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Over the last »twold\éz:;l?dﬁéé; RSA Security has been helping
organizations overcome successive generations of network
security threats. Qur products have long inspired trust in
the global network, allowing users to capitalize on the
opportunities offered by an increasingly connected world.

Building on this legacy of leadership, RSA Security in 2004
achieved record revenue gmwthy entered important new
markets, introduced ground-breaking products and invested
in research that seeks to anticipate and neutralize the next
generation of security challenges.

As we ook to the {uture, we are committed to earning and
keeping the trust of today’s online users — and tomorrow’s
— providing them with an environment that is convenient,
productive, collaborative and secure.




N NS A\ noon

Y i ! .
SiaEea e HeIANEGE
TO.OUR sHAREHOLDERs:— | ||\ | () ] = o

lead the market with our authentication solutions; and over the course of 2004, we extended that
leadership position by expanding into new consumer and enterprise markets and introducing
complementary offerings such as RSA® Sign-On Manager and RSA® Federated Identity Manager into
our product portfolio.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2004, RSA Security generated revenue of $307.5 million,
an increase of 18 percent over the previous year’s revenue of $259.9 million. Thanks to our contin-
ued ability to achieve operational efficiencies, the Company posted earnings of $34.9 million for the
year 2004, or $0.51 per diluted share, compared with a net income of $14.8 million, or $0.24 per
share, for fiscal 2003. We increased our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities by $82.4
million to close the year at $289.7 million. We topped off the year by celebrating our 10 years as a
public company by ringing the opening bell at NASDAQ on December |4th,

EXPANDING OUR LEAD

Our potential market - once consisting of an estimated 70 million remote access users — has now
grown to encompass an estimated 300 million enterprise business users and an even larger base of
online consumers, estimated to include 750 million people. While other providers talk about entering
into the authentication market, we continue to lead it. Over the course of the year, we added more
than 3,100 new customers, bringing our overall customer base to more than 17,000 strong.

RSA Security remains the market's solution of choice for securing remote access. Yet there is
increasing recognition that securing access from outside the firewall — while critical — is no longer
enough. Today customers are turning to us to secure access to the network by employees and
customers throughout the extended enterprise. Businesses are now leveraging our RSA SecurlD® for
Microsoft® Windows® solution to Secure access to their digital assets inside the firewall. At the same

Our value in helping companies protect identities and information access has been further strengthened
by our expanded product portfolio. With the introduction of RSA Sign-On Manager — a true enterprise
single sign-on solution ~ we are helping our customers cope with the financial and administrative chal-
lenges of password proliferation. With the launch of RSA Federated Identity Manager, we are enabling
companies to seamlessly interact and transact with their customers and partners in new ways,

©




Meanwhile, our leadership in the encryption arena continues. RSA BSAFE® technology demonstrated
great market momentum in 2004 as some of the world’s largest consumer electronics, telecommu-
nications and financial services providers sought to build enhanced security into their applications, as
well as satisfy a wide range of compliance requirements.

CONTINUING WITH CONFIDENCE

In 2004, we made tremendous progress in developing and launching new products that alfow us to
extend our leadership in Identity & Access Management. In 2005, you can expect to see us capitalize
on this leadership. With a robust line of security offerings in place, we can now deliver a full range of
Identity & Access Management solutions that customers need. For example, when a Fortune 500
company has a need to secure remote access, we can provide a way for them to secure their inter-
nal enterprise access. When a brokerage firm is looking for means to secure their online transactions,
we can also give them a way to secure the identities of the people behind those transactions. When
we find a customer looking to federate identities with its partners, we can offer them a means of
managing the identities of those partners. We believe the breadth of our products, and our ability to
deliver end-to-end security for our customers, holds enormous market potential that RSA Security is
uniquely positioned to capitalize on.

in 2005 and beyond, you can expect to see us continuing to lead the way in helping customers
protect identities and information access — enabling them to pursue their business initiatives with
confidence. We thank you, our shareholders, customers, partners and employees, for your ongoing
support and dedication to RSA Security in the pursuit of this mission.

Sincerely,

Arthur W. Coviello, Jr.
President and CEO

i

Photo credits - Bill Grainge
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T-HE MARKET IMPERATIVE: CONFIDENCE REQUIRED
In 2004, three broad trends fueled RSA Security’s growth — and reinforced our belief that confidence in
today’s networks is essential to the safety and success of organizations, individuals and the global economy.

Despite escalating investment in security measures, identity-related crimes continue to increase.
With identity fraud underpinning many other crimes ~ including credit and lending fraud, criminal 5
racketeering, and international terrorism ~ organizations have compelling reasons to safeguard users’
online identities from theft and abuse.

Increasingly, e-commerce strategies call for organizations to expose their business processes to ‘
customers, partners and suppliers. Challenged to manage more users than ever before, enterprises
are seeking robust, scalable identity solutions that offer assurance of individual privacy, enterprise
security, user convenience and sound cost management. ‘

Faced with diverse compliance mandates, many organizations struggle to

implement the [T security best practices that are needed to enhance corporate a
transparency, improve risk management and protect consumer information. 1 o =
|

In all these trends, technology users are discovering a common theme: they
need to manage user identities and access privileges in an efficient, cost-effective
way that provides accountability and visibility across the extended enterprise.
They are also discovering that RSA Security offers a compelling response to this
challenge.

‘; ,;‘Wg'gelec'ted RSA
architecture that will enable us to pull all of our identity and access
management products into a single framework. We're looking
forward to managing both RSA SecuriD software and RSA ClearTrust
software through this centralized platform, making administration
even simpler than it is now.

Security for its strong vision and next-generation

Don Richmond
Manager, Information Security
Raymond James Financial
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our clients and have been using a secure enterprise access solution
from RSA Security to establish trust thot their data is highly
protected. The added benefits of RSA Sign-Ow; Marager would allow
us to further improve enterprise security, end-user satisfaction and
extend the value of our security investment.

Louis Mazzio
Chief Technology Officer
Post & Schell
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RSA SECURITY'S RESPONSE: CONFIDENCE INSPIRED
RSA Security’s identity and access management solutions help our customers and partners reap the rewards
of e-commerce by inspiring trust in their products, services and business processes.

In the simplest terms, identity and access management encompasses the technologies, processes and
policies that are needed to manage digital identities and control how those identities can access infor-
mation resources via the network. Aiming at the heart of the market, RSA Security focuses on two
crucial aspects of identity and access management.

° Strong authentication is a cornerstone of our solutions, responding to the fundamental challenge
of how to prove user identities with a high degree of certainty. During 2004, we launched sev-
eral products that leverage the industry’s most widely used strong authentication technology.
By making it extremely difficult to hack, guess or steal a user’s ever-changing digital identity,
our solutions provide assurance that only valid users are accessing protected resources.

° Access management capabilities, based on RSA ClearTrust® software, enable organizations to
manage users’ access rights and permissions in a secure, flexible and timely way that is respon-
sive to business needs. Our solutions enable access control across the extended enterprise —

including customers, partners and suppliers.

Additionally, we draw on our rich legacy in cryptography to provide data protection, ensuring the
integrity of sensitive information, both as it crosses the network and while it resides in data reposi-
tories. Our RSA BSAFE® family of proven encryption tools are reaching new customers, driven in

part, by the need to protect rich media that is being distributed over wireless networks.
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The AOL PassCode service offering is a historic event in e-commerce
and will pave the way for much-needed and more widespread two-
factor authentication among U.S. consumers and their service
providers. AOL is ahead of its peers in realizing that consumers are
willing to pay for additional security, and utilizing RSA Security’s
practical, proven technology is a logical choice.
Avivah Litan
Vice President and Research Director
Gartner Group
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2004 INITIATIVES: NEW HORIZONS, NEW PRODUCTS
During 2004, RSA Security introduced market-leading products and initiatives that reinforced customers’
trust and loyalty by offering our trademark combination of security, simplicity and value.

Bringing Strong Authentication to Consumer Environments

Leveraging extensive experience in enterprise environments, the Company established a foothold in
the important and fast-growing market for consumer-facing security solutions. With America Online,
we introduced AOL® PassCode. This premium service gives AOL subscribers the option of using RSA
Security’s two-factor authentication for login, adding an extra layer of security and protection for
users’ personal information and accounts. In early 2005, we announced a second major consumer-
facing initiative with E¥TRADE FINANCIAL.

Strengthening Enterprise Security

In 2004, we introduced several new products designed to enhance our enterprise solutions. The RSA
SecuriD? for Microsoft® Windows® solution brings our proven two-factor authentication technology
inside the enterprise, helping ensure that only authorized users can access desktop and network
resources. RSA® Sign-On Manager frees users from the nuisance of multiple passwords. RSA Federated
Identity Manager facilitates collaborative e-commerce, enabling an organization’s users to securely nav-
igate across the extended enterprise, including partner and supplier sites, with a single convenient login.

Safeguarding Intellectual Property

In the emerging field of digital rights management (DRM), RSA Security co-authored the Open Mobile
Alliance DRM standard and released one of the first products based on that standard. The RSA
BSAFE® Mobile Rights Management solution helps ensure that digital content — such as music, movies
and games — can be securely delivered to consumers while enforcing the digital rights of artists,

publishers and content vendors.
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PARTNERSHIPS: BUILDING ON A FOUNDATION OF TRUST

Strategic partnerships form one of the most critical elements of RSA Security’s sustained leadership and
: success. Working with more than 1,000 partners — many of them leaders in their respective fields — we

: are able to extend our reach, enhance the value of our solutions and leverage our brand worldwide.

Channel Partners: Connecting with Customers

Channel partners — whose ranks include resellers, system integrators and consultants — provide a crit-
: ical link to our customers. They extend our reach and reputation into diverse geographies, enhance
our credibility through their vertical industry expertise, and provide “on the ground” knowledge of

each customer’s unique environment.

Technology Partners: Enhancing Our Value Proposition

RSA Security collaborates with hundreds of software, hardware and consumer products companies
to ensure interoperability between their products and our own. These efforts greatly enhance the
value of our solutions, enabling us to offer our customers broad protection for their complex IT
environments, robust security for consumer products — such as wireless devices and gaming systems

_ and fast, trouble-free deployment of our solutions.

Ensuring Visibility and Access

RSA Security maintains strategic partnerships with some of the world’s most
respected technology leaders, including Accenture, Microsoft, Cisco Systems and
Citrix Systems. Through these rich, multifaceted relationships, we gain visibility
into urgent security challenges, access to decision-makers in our target markets,
and the synergy and credibility that result when outstanding companies work
together.
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Identity securily and access managemern: are critical business ISsues
in all industries. Our global alliance (with RSA Security) gives our
customers the ability to quickly and sfficiertly deploy centralized
management of digital identities and user czcess rights.

Dr. Alastair MacWillson

Globai Head, Security Practice
Accenture
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INDUSTRY LEADERSHIP: CREATING MOMENTUM

New standards, new solutions, new insights: RSA Security’s customers, partners and shareholders have

learned they can count on us to set the pace for information security. ;

Shaping Security Standards 3
In keeping with our long-standing commitment to shaping security standards, the Company is ?
currently focusing on standards established to accelerate the wide adoption of strong authentication.
During early 2005, we released open specifications that will allow technology vendors to more easily
integrate support for diverse one-time password (OTP) authentication methods, including RSA 3
Security’s strong authentication and other vendors’ offerings. ;

Addressing Tomorrow'’s Security Challenges

Through the work of RSA Laboratories, the Company explores emerging network security
challenges and develops innovative security approaches. We pursued research in a number of key
areas, most notably, in wireless security and in access control solutions based on age-group recogni-
tion technology. This latter initiative is focused on the possibility of combining strong authentication
with biometric bone-scanning technology that reveals a person’s age range, creating the potential to
prevent children from viewing adult Internet content and adults from accessing children’s sites. 1

Bringing the Industry Together
Always thought-provoking, informative, and entertaining, the annual RSA® Conference is widely
regarded as the leading industry forum for IT security professionals around the globe. Held in three
locales ~ North America, Europe and Asia Pacific — the conference brings together customers, |
partners, business leaders and top security experts to discuss security trends, debate technical and
ethical issues, and share best practices.
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PART 1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
COMPANY OVERVIEW

RSA Security Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries are focused on helping customers confidently protect
and manage identities and information access. With approximately 17,000 customers worldwide, RSA
Security has a 20-year track record of award-winning solutions. Built to work seamlessly in heterogeneous
environments, our portfolio of identity access and management solutions is designed to inspire customers to
confidently exploit the full power of the Internet as well as secure access to valuable information assets in their
enterprise networks.

We maintain a website at www.rsasecurity.com. We are not including the information contained in our
website as part of this Report, nor are we incorporating the information on our website into this Report by this
reference. As soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them with or furnish them to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, we make available through our website, free of charge, our annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
these reports.

COMPANY HISTORY

Since our inception in 1986 as Security Dynamics Technologies, Inc., we have focused on the
fundamental need for user identification and authentication, with an initial emphasis on solutions for secure
remote access to enterprise networks (RSA SecurID® technology). In July 1996, to further our strategy and
extend our product line, we acquired RSA Data Security, Inc., a privately held company that developed and
delivered cryptographic solutions that address the need for data privacy and integrity (RSA BSAFE®
technology).

In January 1999, we introduced the RSA Keon® product line (now known as RSA® Certificate
Manager), a family of public key infrastructure products designed to provide organizations with application
security and flexible electronic commerce solutions. In September 1999, we changed our name from Security
Dynamics Technologies, Inc. to RSA Security Inc.

In September 2001, we introduced RSA ClearTrust® Web access management solutions, which we
obtained through our purchase of Securant Technologies, Inc.

Throughout our history, we have made a number of corporate acquisitions, in addition to the RSA Data
Security and Securant acquisitions described above. Xcert International’s Sentry CA line of products became
part of our RSA Keon digital certificate management product family after our February 2001 acquisition of
Xcert International, Inc., a privately held company that developed and delivered digital certificate-based
products for securing e-business transactions. We purchased smart card authentication middleware technology
in May 2001 through our acquisition of 3-G International, Inc., a privately held company that developed and
delivered smart card and biometric authentication products.

BACKGROUND

We believe that many businesses and government entities are now using electronic information exchange
as a standard way to transact business. The exchange of electronic information is being conducted both
internally, among their employees and departments, and externally, with their customers, vendors, business
partners, suppliers and others. We have observed an increase in requirements for access to electronic
information, characterized by a growing number and type of users, applications, transactions and access
methods. This has, in turn, driven advances in technology, resulting in improvements in the speed of exchange
and ease of access to information. Some of these technology advancements include faster networks as well as
intranets, extranets, portals, wireless access, and VPNs facilitating productive anytime, anywhere access to
critical resources.




Increased access to critical information can lead to greater risk of exposure of that information to
unauthorized users. Information can be intercepted by hackers, cyber-terrorists, identity thieves, disgruntled
employees and even competitors. Losses that result from any serious breach can include large direct and
indirect costs, a loss of confidence in the enterprise, and regulatory fines. Historically, many organizations have
viewed security as a necessary expense, but as digital information and the exchange of that information have
become common and important, many entities view this electronic data as a critical business asset. We have
observed that many organizations are now beginning to see security as a strategic imperative and that
information technology security has become not only about preventing liability, but also about protecting
important business assets.

Many technologies have emerged to address the information access challenges that organizations face.
Some organizations need authentication solutions to help positively identify users (from within as well as
outside the enterprise) before granting access to critical applications and resources. Others require compre-
hensive identity management solutions to help manage user identities, user lifecycles and their access
privileges. We believe that as information access continues to expand in complexity, these distinct security
requirements may merge to address the larger need for integrated identity and access management.

THE RSA SECURITY STRATEGY
Secure Information Access

Our portfolio of solutions includes Secure Mobile and Remote Access, Identity and Access Management,
Secure Enterprise Access and Secure Transactions. These solutions are designed to help organizations realize
the benefits of transacting business electronically, while helping to protect critical resources and applications
from unauthorized access and other forms of electronic malice. We continue to work with our customers to
understand their challenges and opportunities and bring to market products and solutions to help secure the
ever-changing information technology landscape.

Lead e-Security

With over one billion RSA Security-enabled software units shipped, we are a trusted, experienced partner
to our customers. We participate actively in the development of industry standards, such as the Liberty
Alliance Project, Security Assertion Markup Language (SAML), OASIS and Public Key Cryptography
Standards (PKCS). Our efforts are designed to ensure that our current and prospective customers get the
right solution for their heterogeneous computing environments and growing business.

Provide Seamless Solutions

We have strategic partnerships with industry-leading companies, including global integrators like
Accenture, application providers such as Citrix, and platform vendors such as Microsoft. The RSA Secured®
technology partner program, a key part of this initiative, focuses on product integration and interoperability
certification activities, as well as joint support strategies for our mutual customers. Our RSA BSAFE
developer solutions are engineered to enable developers to quickly and effectively integrate encryption,
protocols and electronic signatures into their applications. Our current products support a number of
standards, including PKCS, RADIUS and OASIS SAML 1.0 specification.

Path to the Future

We offer our customers a migration path to a system that is designed to address their core security needs
and provides flexibility to address future needs. Our identity and access management architecture, which we
refer to as “NEXUS,” is designed to integrate our solutions into a single common administrative and system
services platform and to deliver common administration and integration across our products.

3




THE RSA SECURITY SOLUTION: SECURE INFORMATION EXCHANGE AND IDENTITY
MANAGEMENT

Our authentication, identity management and encryption solutions, coupled with professional services and
third-party strategic partnerships, are designed to help businesses and government entities securely put critical
information into the hands of the people who need it, while protecting it against unauthorized access.

Secure Mobile and Remote Access

Organizations need to secure access to the network from outside the firewall, including from a remote or
branch office, partner or customer site, and mobile workforce. To address this challenge, we offer a broad
range of authenticaticn options:

* RSA SecurID® hardware and sofiware authenticators and RSA® Authentication Manager server
software are more secure alternatives to passwords, providing ease of use and the added protection of
two-factor authentication.

Secure Enterprise Access

In order to help organizations effectively manage and control secure access to business-critical
information resources within the enterprise, we offer the following products:

s RSA SecurlD for Microsoft® Windows® software helps to provide greater security than weak, static
passwords. By combining something the user knows (i.e., a secret PIN) with something the user
possesses (i.e., a unique RSA SecurID token that generates a one-time password every 60 seconds),
Microsoft Windows customers gain an effective way to secure user access to valuable company
resources.

* RSA® Sign-On Manager is our new single sign-on (SSO) solution that provides a secure way to
manage passwords for enterprise applications and web sites. Users can authenticate with their
password, or for enhanced security, with a strong two factor authentication device.

s RSA SecurlD® Smart Card and USB solutions are designed to allow an organization to store
credentials and combine multiple security functions — such as employee badging, building access and
network access — on one portable device.

¢ RSA® Certificate Manager (also known as RSA Keon® Certificate Management) solutions enable an
organization to issue, validate and manage credentials that are based on x.509 digital certificates.

Identity and Access Management

We provide identity management capabilities through our RSA ClearTrust® solution — including access
management, authentication, provisioning and user management.

» RSA ClearTrust web access management solution is designed to facilitate secure single sign-on (SSO),
while protecting access to mission-critical web-based applications and resources through the manage-
ment of user identities and their access rights.

e RSA® Federated Identity Manager enables organizations to share trusted identities across the
boundaries of the corporate network — with business partners, autonomous business units and remote
offices. RSA Federated Identity Manager allows an organization to interact electronically with its
business relationships while maintaining consistent and centralized control over the policies associated
with its users and applications. Standards-based and designed for broad compatibility, RSA Federated
Identity Manager employs leading web services standards, including XML, SOAP and SAML.

+ We work with technology partners to address customer requirements for provisioning across the
enterprise. Our reseller agreement with Thor Technologies permits us to both bundle with our RSA
ClearTrust product and resell separately Thor’s Xcellerate provisioning software.
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Consumer Identity Protection

Online merchants and financial institutions need to know who is on the other end of the network
connection, and passwords alone are often inadequate for this task. Strong authentication provides a higher
degree of certainty that online consumers are in fact who they claim to be. We have recently seen increased
sales to customers, including Internet service providers and financial institutions, who are using our products to
secure and manage access for their online consumer customers. Interest in consumer authentication is
broadening to many more types of consumer-facing applications, which we believe is driven by concerns about
identity theft and privacy, and the desire to comply with information protection regulations.

Secure Transactions

In order to ensure secure transactions, organizations need reliable, trusted, cross-platform technology that
verifies who or where the business data and logic are coming from; who or where it is going to; and that the
data is protected along the way. We address the need for secure transactions through the following offerings:

* RSA BSAFE® encryption and digital signing software is engineered to provide security, performance
and support for industry standards. The RSA BSAFE line of software development kits (SDKs)
provides components to secure e-business applications, enterprise software, mobile phones, pocket PCs,
PDAs, Web browsers, complex networking equipment, consumer electronics, and cable TV boxes.

* RSA Certificate Manager solutions help enable an organization to issue, validate and manage
credentials that are based on x.509 digital certificates.

STRATEGIC PARTNERS

Through the RSA Secured® partner program, we work with leading platform, network and application
vendors to ensure that many widely used infrastructure products and applications interoperate with our
authentication and identity management solutions. Partners in our RSA Secured SecurlD-Ready, Keon-
Ready and ClearTrust-Ready programs participate in a rigorous testing and certification process and are
periodically required to re-certify their offerings. RSA Secured products include directories and databases,
provisioning solutions, enterprise applications, platforms, portals, and web servers. Collectively, through all of
the RSA Secured partner programs, we have relationships with leading vendors, representing more than 1,000
products that incorporate our technologies or are interoperable with our products.

In addition, we collaborate with business integration partners in order to assist customers in identifying
opportunities where secure information access and identity management can help to achieve strategic business
goals. Our partners bring experience to the task of developing, integrating and deploying solutions for complex
enterprise business and technology environments. In providing complete lifecycle solutions, from planning and
architecture design to deployment, project management and ongoing support, we offer integration expertise
gained from thousands of customer implementations.

SALES AND MARKETING

We have established a multi-channel distribution and sales network to serve the information technology
security market. We sell and license our products directly to end users through our worldwide sales force and
through our RSA SecurWorld™ network of original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), value-added resellers
(VARSs), and distributors. In addition, we support our sales efforts through strategic marketing relationships
with other vendors. We have a dedicated direct sales force to sell our emerging products, such as our RSA
ClearTrust and RSA Certificate Manager products. We sell our more mature products, such as RSA SecurID
and RSA Authentication Manager products, primarily through our RSA SecurWorld network of OEMs,
VARs and distributors.

To enhance demand for our products, we have participated in the development of various industry-
specific protocols that incorporate or complement our security technologies. We also host the industry’s largest
annual security conference, the RSA Conference, and participate in other conferences to increase awareness,
education and demand for our products.




CUSTOMERS

We have a broad customer base, and no one end user customer accounted for more than 5% of our total
revenue in 2004, 2003 or 2002. However, one of our distributors, Tech Data Corporation, accounted for
approximately 11% and 10% of our total revenue in 2004 and 2003, respectively. During 2004, we sold our
products to an average of approximately 5,000 customers per quarter, including both new customers and
existing customers to whom we had sold in previous periods. In addition, we increased our customer base
during 2004 by 22% to end the year with approximately 17,000 customers.

We sell our products to customers in a number of different vertical markets. We have analyzed
approximately 85% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 and determined that the
percentage of the analyzed revenue represented by sales to each of our major vertical markets is as follows:

Vertical Markets 2004 2003
Banking and insurance . .... ... i i e e 22% 21%
Technology, hardware and software companies .............coveviiiivevannnnn. 20% 25%
Professional SEIVICES ... ... it ittt i e e 12% 10%
Healthcare and pharmaceuticals .......... ... ..o i 10% 10%
Manufacturing, distribution and transportation ............. ... . i i, 10% 10%
TelecommunICations . ... ... vttt ittt e et ie e %% 11%
L 1457 P 9% 7%
Government, federal, state and local......... .. ... .. i 8% 6%

As of December 31, 2004, we have sold more than 19 million RSA SecurlD authenticators and licensed
our software to thousands of customers worldwide, including approximately 88% of the Fortune 100 and
approximately 66% of the Fortune 500. Historically, our customers have sought to secure highly confidential
information and have been sophisticated and knowledgeable purchasers of e-security systems.

MAINTENANCE, SUPPORT AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

We maintain a customer support help desk, technical support organization and professional services
group at our headquarters in Bedford, Massachusetts, and at other locations throughout the world. We offer
telephone and Web support for many of our products 24 hours a day, seven days a week. We also have field
technical support personnel who work directly with our sales force, distributors and customers. We believe that
the quality and the 24 hour, 7 days a week availability of our maintenance and support organization give us a
competitive advantage over other companies in our industry.

Our standard practice is to provide a warranty on all RSA SecurID hardware authenticators for the
programmed life of the authenticator (generally two to five years) and to replace any defective authenticators
(other than authenticators damaged by a user’s abuse or alteration) free of charge. We generally sell each of
our other products to customers with a warranty for product defects for specified periods, generally ninety
days.

Customers may elect to purchase a maintenance contract, renewable annually or for multiple years.
Under these contracts, we agree to provide corrections for identified program errors for supported versions of
our software and hardware products, version upgrades for software, telephone consultation, and Web-based
access to solutions, patches and documentation.

Our professional services group helps organizations plan and implement secure e-business solutions.
Through this group, we provide our customers with project management, architecture and design, physical
deployment, custom development, education and practitioner certification services. Customers typically pay
for professional services either at a fixed price or at an hourly or daily rate for the time it takes us to complete
the project.




PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Our product development efforts are focused on enhancing the functionality, reliability, performance and
flexibility of our existing products, as well as developing new products with features and functionality that
meet the needs of our customers and the evolving information technology market. We are developing
architectures and technologies to enhance the administrative capabilities and scalability of our products and to
increase interoperability with additional network operating systems, applications and directory services. We
are also developing tools to assist customers, strategic partners and other third-party integrators to integrate
our products with custom and other third-party network or system applications. In addition, we continue to
work on developing standards-based protocols, specifications and solutions that address the needs of specific
market segments and build on our technologies. We may develop these products internally or enter into
arrangements to license or acquire products or technologies from third parties.

Our product development staff, which works in five development centers worldwide, engages in software
and hardware engineering, testing and quality assurance, and technical documentation. We also engage
outside contractors where appropriate to supplement our in-house expertise or expedite projects based on
customer or market demand. In addition to our product development staff, RSA Laboratories is an internal
research and development group chartered with the continuous exploration of the information technology
infrastructure and various emerging security technologies such as biometrics and radio frequency identification
(RFID). Their goal is to help identify key technologies and help to commercialize those technologies that are
most promising.

Research and development expenses were $61.9 million, $53.6 million and $55.1 million for 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLIERS

We assemble, program and distribute our products from two locations: Bedford, Massachusetts, and
Shannon, Ireland. We distribute to our customers in the Americas from our facilities in Bedford, Massachu-
setts, and we distribute to our customers in other parts of the world from our facilities in Shannon, Ireland.

We distribute our software products electronically or on standard magnetic diskettes, compact disks and
tapes together with documentation, which are available from many suppliers. We conduct nearly all of our
media duplication in-house.

We contract for the manufacture of RSA SecurlD® authenticators with Flexironics, a global electronic
manufacturing services supplier, utilizing the supplier’s plant in China. Flextronics contracts with other
suppliers for the manufacture of various components, such as the batteries and microcontrollers in the
authenticators.

Some components of our hardware authenticators are currently available only from limited sources. For
example, Sanyo Semiconductor, Corp. is our only supplier for the microcontroller contained in our RSA
SecurlD products, Flextronics is our single manufacturer for RSA SecurlD authenticators, and Axalto (a
Schlumberger company) is our only manufacturer of smart cards. If we were unable to obtain a sufficient
supply of these or any other components or RSA SecurID authenticators, then we might be unable to fill
customer orders and might have to expend significant resources to find new suppliers or manufacturers. As a
result, we attempt to maintain a three-month supply in inventory. We believe that it could take approximately
six months to identify and commence production of suitable replacements for the microcontroller chip used in
RSA SecurlD authenticators.

We monitor warranty claims and address defects through our quality and design processes, which are
managed by our product engineering, quality control and technical support organizations. During 2002 and
2003 our analysis of historical failure and defective return rates indicated that certain authenticators produced
between 2000 and 2002 were subject to higher defect and failure rates. During the last several years, we have
increased resources and initiated new programs to build an expanded family of high performance authentica-
tion solutions. These programs have resulted in the redesign and re-engineering of authenticator products to
improve performance and reliability by incorporating new microprocessors, electronics, firmware and batteries
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with longer life. We will continue to monitor the quality, reliability performance and warranty claims to
reevaluate our estimate of warranty and defective return obligations in future periods.

COMPETITION

The market for information technology security products is competitive and subject to rapid change. We
currently experience direct and indirect competition from a number of sources, including:

« software operating systems suppliers and application software vendors that offer e-security products or
features, either as stand-alone products or incorporated into their operating systems or applications;

« vendors of hardware authenticators and smart cards competitive with RSA SecurID products;
» biometric security device vendors;

+ vendors of Web access management solutions;

» public key infrastructure (PKI) and cryptographic software firms;

+» application access providers; and

» “freeware,” i.e., free or low-cost, unpatented e-security technology.

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting the market for security products include
technical features, ease of use, interoperability, quality and reliability, level of security, pricing, customer
service and support and distribution channels. We believe that we and our products compare favorably to our
competitors and their products with respect to each of these factors.

PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

We rely on a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, software licenses,
nondisclosure agreements and technical measures to protect our proprietary technology. We also generally
enter into nondisclosure and assignment of inventions agreements with our employees and confidentiality
and/or license agreements with our distributors, strategic partners and customers and potential customers, and
we limit access to and distribution of our software, documentation and other proprietary information.

At December 31, 2004, we had 31 issued U.S. patents, expiring at various dates ranging from 2005 to
2018, and 46 foreign patents, expiring at various dates between 2005 and 2020. We have also filed patent
applications on inventions embodied in new technologies that we developed and on inventions that may be
useful in the field of e-security. There can be no assurance that any of these applications will result in an issued
patent.

We have registered, or are seeking to register, our trademarks and service marks in most countries where
we are selling our products. We may also seek to purchase or license trademarks from third parties, but there
can be no assurance that we will be able to purchase or license trademarks on commercially favorable terms or
at all.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION AND EXPORT CONTROLS

All of our products are subject to U.S. export control laws and applicable foreign government import,
export and/or use requirements. Minimal U.S. export restrictions apply to all products, whether or not they
perform encryption functions.

The Export Administration Regulations of the U.S. Department of Commerce regulate the export of
most commercial products with encryption features. Under these regulations, encryption products of any key
length, including general purpose encryption toolkits such as our RSA BSAFE products, may be exported,
after a one-time technical review, to non-governmental end-users and many governmental end-users around
the world, except for embargoed countries and specific prohibited end-users or for specific types of use. For
some governmental end-users, we are also required to obtain special Encryption Licensing Arrangements or
individual export licenses that may be issued at the discretion of the Department of Commerce.

8




We believe that we have completed the necessary technical reviews of the products and services we
currently export, but new products that we acquire or develop may require technical review before we can
export them. For the export of some of our products, we are subject to various post-shipment reporting
requirements. However, the export regulations may be modified at any time. In light of the ongoing
discussions regarding anti-terrorism legislation in the United States Congress, there may be an increased risk
that export regulations may be modified in the future. Modifications to the export regulations could reduce or
eliminate our ability to export some or all of our products from the United States without a license in the
future, which could put us at a disadvantage in competing for international sales compared to companies
located outside of the United States that would not be subject to these restrictions.

BACKLOG

We consider backlog to be orders for products or services evidenced by an executed contract which have
not been fulfilled as of the end of a fiscal period. Backlog from sale of products and services was $10.2 million
at December 31, 2004, $14.9 million at December 31, 2003 and $5.9 million at December 31, 2002. We
believe that all backlog orders at December 31, 2004 will be fulfilled during 2005.

EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2004, we employed 1,144 employees. None of our employees are covered by collective
bargaining agreements. We believe that our relationships with our employees are good.

We believe our compensation plans are competitive with other companies in our industry. We pay our
worldwide sales force a base annual salary plus compensation based upon achievement of sales quotas. All
employees are paid a base annual salary plus compensation based upon achievement of revenue and earnings
targets.

Information on our e-Security Solutions segment and geographical areas may be found in Note 11 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal administrative, sales and marketing, research and development and support headquarter
facilities aggregate approximately 328,000 square feet of office space and are located in Bedford, Massachu-
setts, under non-cancelable fifteen year leases expiring in December 2017. Our former headquarter facilities
aggregate approximately 203,000 square feet of office space and are located in Bedford, Massachusetts, under
non-cancelable ten year leases expiring in 2009. We lease approximately 58,000 square feet of office space for
research and development and sales and marketing in San Mateo, California, under non-cancelable ten-year
leases expiring in 2008, and administration and manufacturing facilities in Shannon, Ireland, aggregating
approximately 18,750 square feet, which serves as our distribution center for international sales. We also lease
facilities for administration, field sales, research and development and customer support throughout the
United States, Canada, Asia, Australia and Europe. In addition, we own an approximately 31,000 square foot
office building in Bracknell, United Kingdom, which is used for our United Kingdom and European
operations.

During 2002 and 2001, we recorded restructuring charges including approximately $53.7 million
representing lease payments due under excess facilities lease agreements, net of estimated sublease income,
impaired leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures, and other associated facilities expense. As of
December 31, 2004, we have entered into sublease agreements with third parties for substantially all of our
excess facilities. These sublease agreements are for approximately 240,000 square feet of our excess facilities
at various locations and expire at various times through June 2009.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On or about February 2, 2001, Leon Stambler filed a complaint for patent infringement in U.S. District
Court for the District of Delaware against RSA Security, VeriSign, Inc., First Data Corporation, Openwave
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Systems Inc., and Omnisky Corporation, Case Number 01-0065. In his complaint, Mr. Stambler alleged that
certain products marketed by each of the defendants infringed various patents that he owns, and he sought
unspecified damages as well as a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining the defendants from
infringing the claims asserted. The trial took place in March 2003, and the jury determined that our products
did not infringe Mr. Stambler’s patents. On April 17, 2003, the court entered final judgment in our favor on
all claims of non-infringement. On or about December 8, 2003, Mr. Stambler filed a notice of appeal to the
United States Court of Appeals. On December 7, 2004, we and Mr. Stambler presented our arguments to the
Court of Appeals, and on or about February 11, 2005, the court issued a ruling denying Mr. Stambler’s request
for a new trial, and affirming the lower court’s ruling in our favor.

On or about April 15, 2004, Ursus, Inc., a former reseller of our products, filed a complaint against us in
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, alleging that we had violated the U.S. Clayton
Act, tortiously interfered with Ursus’ contractual relationships and disseminated false and defamatory
statements about Ursus. In November 2004, we signed a settlement agreement with Ursus, pursuant to which
Ursus agreed to dismiss its complaint with prejudice.

From time to time, we have been named as a defendant in other legal actions arising from our normal
business activities, which we believe will not have a material adverse effect on us or our business.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR OUR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock has been trading on The NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “RSAS”
(formerly “SDTI”) since our initial public offering on December 14, 1994. The following table indicates the
high and low sales prices per share of our common stock for each of our fiscal quarters during the last two
completed fiscal years, as reported on The NASDAQ National Market.

_High  Low
2003
Farst QUAMt T . .ot $ 825 $4.79
Second QUATTET ...ttt ittt ie et it e e $11.86 §$ 6.60
Third QuUarter . . ... e e $15.85  $10.43
Fourth QUarmter . .. ..ottt it e e e $17.31  $11.65
2004
First QuUarter. .. ..o $18.90 $14.19
Second QuUarter . .......iii i e $21.32  $15.63
Third QUaIEr . . ..ottt e e $20.54  $14.51
Fourth QUarmer. .. ..ottt it $2391 $18.73

There were 404 stockholders of record of our common stock as of February 14, 2005. We estimate that
we have a total of approximately 64,000 stockholders, including stockholders who hold their shares in “street
name.”

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain
earnings, if any, to support our growth strategy and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Payment of future dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into
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account various factors, including our financial condition, operating results, current and anticipated cash needs
and plans for expansion.

On September 3, 2004, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized us to repurchase up to
6,700,000 shares of our common stock through December 31, 2005. The table below contains information
about our activities under this common stock repurchase program during the fourth quarter of 2004.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Total Number of

Shares Purchased Maximum Number

Total Number Average Price as Part of Publicly of Shares that May

of Shares Paid Per Announced Yet Be Purchased

Period Purchased Share Program Under the Program
October 1-31, 2004......... 0 — — 6,650,000
November 1-30, 2004. ...... 0 — — 6,650,000
December 1-31, 2004 . ...... 0 — — 6,650,000
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data
Revenue
Products . ....oovviivni i $232,497 $193,664 $168,954 $222,382  $238,027
Maintenance and professional services . .. .. 75,010 66,202 63,130 60,338 42,164
Total revenue........ ..., $307,507 259,866 232,084 282,720 280,191
Cost of revenue
Products ......... e 31,423 32,329 35,772 38,226 33,158
Maintenance and professional services ... .. 23,302 20,877 22,207 28,456 21,825
Impairment of technology related intangible
assets(1) ... . .. — — 14,333 — —
Amortization of technology related
intangible assets(1)............. .. .... 508 7 6,587 3,281 —
Total cost of revenue ..................... 55,233 53,213 78,899 69,963 54,983
Gross profit ......... i 252,274 206,653 153,185 212,757 225,208
Costs and expenses
Research and development .............. 61,887 53,629 55,061 58,345 45,032
Marketing and selling . .................. 110,248 94,298 100,673 122,915 102,788
General and administrative .............. 32,637 33,776 30,256 39,127 35,409
Restructurings . ........oovveinvnnnnn.. 783 — 56,036 19,956 (2,079)
Impairment of intangible assets(1)........ — — 4,807 — —
Amortization of intangible assets(1) ...... — — 3,337 11,171 —
In process research and development ... ... — — — 7,891 —
Total ....... ... i 205,555 181,703 250,170 259,405 181,150
Income (loss) from operations ............. 46,719 24,950 (96,985)  (46,648) 44,058
Interest (expense) income and other ........ (3,278) (7,962) (8,778) 5,860 12,864
Income (loss) from investing activities ...... 210 1,568 (30,937) 40,836 272,853
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for
INCOME tAXES .. v viinriiier e, 43,651 18,556  (136,700) 48 329,775
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ........ 8,669 3,720  (39,876) 2,555 124,012
Net income (loss) .........coovvieinonn, § 34,982 § 14,836 $(96,824) § (2,507) $205,763
Basic earnings (loss) per share(2)
Per share amount ...................... $ 054 ¢ 025 § (171) $ (0.04) $§ 3.50
Weighted average shares ................ 64,309 58,758 56,621 56,259 58,051
Diluted earnings (loss) per share(2)
Per share amount ...................... $§ 051 § 024 § (171) $§ (0.04) $§ 321
Weighted average shares ................ 64,309 58,758 56,621 56,259 58,051
Effect of dilutive equity instruments. ... ... 4,329 3,546 —_ — 5,976
Adjusted weighted average shares........, 68,638 62,304 56,621 56,259 64,027
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Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000

2004

Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable

SECUTtiES . ..ot i $289,719
Working capital . .......... ... ... ... 232,429
Total assets ............ ..., 624,827
Long term obligations. .................... 19,739
Stockholders’ equity ...........cooiiin 476,532

(In thousands, except per share data)

$207,323  $103,030 $ 63,120  $335,102
70,394 94,049 69,657 304,780
529,577 482,848 529,677 599,220
25,907 105,394 81,670 —
308,775 263,434 353,413 481,004

(1) Total cost of revenue, gross profit and total operating expenses refiect the reclassification of amortization
of technology related intangible assets from operating expense to cost of revenue of $6,587 and $3,281 for
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and also reflect the reclassification of
impairment of technology related intangible assets of $14,333 from operating to cost of revenue expense

for the year ended December 31, 2002.

(2) Per share and share amounts have been adjusted to reflect the three-for-two stock split effected as a

dividend in March 2001.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

We make statements in this Report that are forward looking, that is, statements that are not historical
Jacts but that convey projections about the future. For example, statements containing the words “believes,”
“anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “estimates,” “intends,” “may,” “projects,” “will,” “would,” and similar
expressions may be forward-looking statements. We caution investors not to place undue reliance on any
Jorward-looking statements in this Report because these statements speak only as of the date when made. Any
prospective percentages do not include the impact of the revision to SFAS 123, Furthermore, we are not
obligated to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise. There are a number of factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from
those indicated by these forward-looking statements, including without limitation the factors described below
under the caption “Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results.”

Overview

RSA Security Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries are focused on helping customers confidently protect
and manage identities and information access. With approximately 17,000 customers worldwide, RSA
Security has a 20-year track record of award-winning solutions. Built to work seamlessly in heterogeneous
environments, our portfolio of identity access and management solutions is designed to inspire customers to
confidently exploit the full power of the Internet as well as secure access to valuable information assets in their
enterprise networks.

We derive our operating revenue primarily from two distinct product groups: Enterprise solutions, which
includes RSA SecurID® authentication credentials, RSA® Authentication Manager (formerly known as RSA
ACE/Server®) software, RSA ClearTrust® software, RSA® Certificate Manager (formerly known as RSA
Keon®) software, and maintenance and professional services associated with those products; and Developer
solutions, which includes RSA BSAFE® encryption software and protocol products, RSA Certificate Manager
components, and maintenance and professional services associated with those products.

We believe sales of our products are and will be driven by two major trends: (1) enterprises Web-
enabling their existing applications and (2) enterprises permitting secure and efficient access to internal
resources whether remotely or within the enterprise. Sales of our RSA SecurlD authentication credentials
continue to generate substantial revenue for us, while our less mature Enterprise software products are
building revenue. We believe the availability of free, “open source” products that compete with our RSA
BSAFE product line continues to put pressure on our Developer solutions revenue. We believe our product
line synergies and the strength of our customer base create opportunities to sell additional products to existing
customers. However, we have observed that information technology budgets remain constrained, which has
had and could continue to have a direct effect on the sale of our products.

We continue to explore opportunities to sell our products into new markets, and we are currently focusing
on two new market opportunities. First, although most of our customers continue to use our products to
authenticate users accessing electronic resources remotely, from outside the enterprise, with the launch of our
RSA SecurlD for Microsoft® Windows® solution, some of our customers are using our products to
authenticate users within the enterprise. Second, although the majority of our customers utilize our products
to secure and to manage network and application access for their employees and partners, we have recently
increased sales to customers, including internet service providers and financial institutions, who are also using
our products to secure and manage access for their customers, including consumer customers. Today we see
interest in consumer authentication broadening to many more types of consumer-facing applications, which
we believe is driven by concerns about identity theft and privacy, and the desire to comply with information
protection regulations. While still early, we believe that these expanded markets have the potential to generate
incremental demand for our products.

Our Enterprise solutions customers typically place an initial order for a limited number of users, for either
our RSA SecurlD authenticators or any of our software products, and deploy additional authenticators or
software licenses as their need for our products within their enterprise increases. Authenticators have a
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programmed life of two to five years, and as they expire, our customers typically place additional orders for
replacement authenticators. We typically base our RSA Authentication Manager, RSA Certificate Manager
and RSA ClearTrust software license fees on the number of users authorized under each customer’s license.
In most cases, customers also enter into an annual customer support agreement for their software license at
the time of initial purchase and renew this support agreement annually. Our support agreement entitles our
customers to license software upgrades and telephone support.

Our Developer solutions software licensing terms vary by product and customer. Typical licensing terms
may include an initial prepaid license fee and ongoing royalties paid as a percentage of the developer’s product
or service revenue, or payment of annual license fees, or a single fully paid-up license fee. Often, our existing
developer customers go on to license new software or technology from us or wish to increase the field of use
rights for the technology they have already licensed. In such a case, we amend our license agreement with the
customer and charge additional licensing fees, thus deriving additional revenue.

Our professional services group provides customers with project management, architecture and design,
physical deployment, custom development, education and practitioner certification services. Customers
typically pay for professional services either at a fixed price or at hourly or daily rates for the time it takes us to
complete the project.

We have contracted with outside manufacturing organizations to produce our RSA SecurlD hardware
authenticators, and many of our products contain technology that is licensed from third parties. Our cost of
revenue consists primarily of costs associated with the manufacture and delivery of RSA SecurlD authentica-
tors and royalty fees that we pay for the licensed technology. Cost of revenue also includes warranty obligation
expense and labor and overhead costs associated with professional services, customer support, and production
activities. Production costs include the programming labor, shipping, inspection and quality control functions
associated with the RSA SecurlD authenticators. We continue to work to establish new supplier relationships
in order to increase the number of vendors from which we buy our authenticators and authenticator
components, in order to reduce our vulnerability to potential supply problems.

We distribute our products through direct sales to end user customers, and through indirect sales,
including (i) sales to resellers and distributors that we ship directly to the end user customer and (ii) sales to
distributors for stocking purposes. For the year ended December 31, 2004, approximately 56% of our revenue
was from sales to distributors shipped directly to the end user and resellers, approximately 36% of our revenue
was from direct sales to end user customers, and approximately 8% of our revenue was from sales to stocking
distributors. Our stocking distributors provide us with inventory level and point of sale reports on a monthly
basis. Based upon these reports, we estimate that our stocking distributors typically hold approximately four
weeks of inventory on hand in the distribution channel. Generally our arrangements with our distributors and
resellers are non-exclusive. We currently have arrangements with more than 1,000 distributors and resellers
and are constantly seeking to expand the number of quality participants and volume of sales in our distributor
and reseller program.

Our direct sales to our customers in countries outside of the United States are denominated in either
U.S. dollars or local currency, with the majority of our sales denominated in U.S. doliars. Where we do invoice
customers in local currency, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations from the time of invoicing
until collection occurs. We are also exposed to foreign currency fluctuations between the time we collect in
U.S. dollars and the time we pay our operating expenses in local currency. Fluctuations in currency exchange
rates could affect the profitability and cash flows in U.S. dollars of our products sold in international markets.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis,
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we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, sales returns, doubtful accounts,
intangible assets, income taxes, financing operations, warranty obligations, restructurings, contingencies and
litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances. However, our actual results could differ from those estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our significant estimates and assumptions used
in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition — We derive our revenue primarily from two sources: (i) sales of products,
including hardware and software licenses, and (ii) services, including maintenance, support and professional
services. Our management must make and use judgments and estimates in connection with the revenue
recognized in any reporting period. We recognize revenue from the sale of products when persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection is considered
probable. We reduce revenue by provisions for estimated sales returns. The amount and timing of our revenue
for any period may materially differ if our management made different judgments or utilized different
estimates in establishing our allowance for sales returns. An increase in our allowance for sales returns would
reduce our revenue in the period for which the increase is recorded.

For all sales, we use a binding contract, purchase order or another form of documented agreement as
evidence of an arrangement with the customer. Sales to our distributors are evidenced by a master agreement
governing the relationship, together with binding purchase orders on a transaction-by-transaction basis. We
consider delivery to occur when we ship the product, so long as title and risk of loss have passed to the
customer.

At the time of a transaction, we assess whether the sale amount is fixed or determinable based upon the
terms of the documented agreement. If we determine the fee is not fixed or determinable, we recognize
revenue when the fee is fixed. We assess if collection is probable based on a number of factors, including past
transaction history with the customer and the creditworthiness of the customer. If we determine that
collection is not probable, we do not record revenue until such time as collection becomes probable, which is
generally upon the receipt of cash.

We do not generally include acceptance provisions in arrangements with customers; however, if an
arrangement includes an acceptance provision, we recognize revenue upon the customer’s acceptance of the
product, which occurs upon the earlier of receipt of a written customer acceptance or expiration of the
acceptance period.

We recognize revenue upon shipment of product to stocking distributors who have only limited return
rights, and record a sales return reserve to provide for estimated product returns. We estimate product returns
from distributors based upon historical experience.

When arrangements contain multiple elements and vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair
value exists for all undelivered elements, we recognize revenue for the delivered elements using the residual
method. We base our determination of VSOE of fair value of each of the undelivered elements in multi-
element arrangements on either the price we charge when the same element is sold separately or the price
established by the members of our management, who have the relevant authority to set prices, for an element
not yet sold separately. For arrangements containing multiple elements where VSOE of fair value does not
exist for all undelivered elements, we defer revenue for the delivered and undelivered elements until VSOE of
fair value exists or all elements have been delivered.

Some of our arrangements contain bundled products which include a term software license, an RSA
SecurID® authenticator and support for the term of the license. As these arrangements contain multiple
elements where vendor specific objective evidence of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements, we
record these arrangements as deferred revenue and recognize revenue ratably on a monthly basis over the term
of the license agreement.

We defer maintenance service revenue, whether sold separately or as part of a multiple element
arrangement, and recognize it ratably over the term of the maintenance contract, generally twelve months.
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We recognize revenue allocated to professional service elements as the services are performed. When the
customization is essential to the functionality of the licensed software, then both the software license and
professional services revenue are recognized under the percentage of completion method, which requires
revenue to be recognized as a percentage of the project completed. We recognize revenue and gross profit
using labor hours as an input measure of progress to completion on these arrangements.

Allowance for Sales Returns — We record allowances for estimated sales returns and allowances on
products and maintenance and professional service related revenue in the same period as the related revenue is
recorded. We base these estimates on historical sales returns, analysis of credit memo data, current economic
trends, product line and customer industry data and other known factors. Our historical experience with sales
returns varies by product line depending on the customer, industry and market. We must make judgments and
estimates in connection with establishing the allowances for estimated sales returns in any reporting period.
The amount and timing of our revenue and our cash flows for any reporting period may materially differ if
actual sales returns and allowances differ from our estimates.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses
resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We analyze accounts receivable and
the composition of the accounts receivable aging, historical bad debts, customer creditworthiness, current
economic trends, regional factors and other known factors when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for
doubtful accounts. Based upon our analysis and estimates of the uncollectibility of our accounts receivable, we
record an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts when the prospect of collecting a specific account
receivable becomes doubtful. Actual results could differ from the allowances for doubtful accounts recorded,
and this difference may have a material effect on our financial position and results of operations, We record
recoveries of accounts previously written off as uncollectible as increases to the allowance for doubtful
accounts.

Allowance for Warranty Obligations — Our standard practice is to provide a warranty on all RSA
SecurlD hardware authenticators for the customer selected programmed life of the authenticator (generally
two to five years) and to replace any defective authenticators (other than authenticators damaged by a user’s
abuse or alteration) free of charge. We sell our other products to customers with a warranty for product
defects for a specified period, generally ninety days. We provide reserves for warranty obligations based on
historical failure and defective return rates, and include these costs as a component of product cost of revenue.
We reevaluate the estimate of warranty and defective return obligations, including the assumptions about
estimated failure and return rates, each quarter.

During 2002 and 2003, our analysis of historical failure and defective return rates indicated that certain
authenticators produced between 2000 and 2002 were subject to higher defect and failure rates than we had
previously experienced. Accordingly, we recorded provisions for warranty obligations of $0.2 million,
$4.6 million and $2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We will
continue to monitor warranty claims and reevaluate our estimate of warranty and defective return obligations
in future periods, which may result in our recording additional warranty expense. Actual warranty returns
could differ from the allowance for warranty obligations recorded.

Income Taxes — We account for income taxes using the liability method which requires that deferred tax
assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the
book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities and for tax carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are reduced
by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not
be realized.

We perform an annual assessment of the realization of our deferred tax assets considering all of the
available evidence, both positive and negative. We assessed the realization of our deferred tax assets at the end
of 2004 and concluded that due to historical and forecasted tax losses, which are primarily attributable to tax
deductions for employee stock options and to restructuring costs accrued in prior years, we could not meet the
more likely than not standard required by generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, we recorded
a valuation allowance in 2004 of $10,813 against our deferred tax assets, primarily various net operating loss
and R&D tax credit carryforwards. Approximately $5,688 of the valuation allowances are allocable to
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continuing operations and impacted our effective tax rate for the year. The remaining $5,125 of valuation
allowances reflect the impact of employee stock options and are allocable directly to shareholders equity.

Management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets
and liabilities and any valuation allowances recorded against deferred tax assets. We base the valuation
allowance on our estimates of taxable income by jurisdiction in which we operate and the period over which
our deferred tax assets will be recoverable. If actual results differ from these estimates or we adjust these
estimates in future periods, we may need to adjust our valuation allowance, which could materially impact our
consolidated financial position and results of operations.

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to estimate our income taxes in each
of the jurisdictions in which we operate, including those outside the United States which may be subject to
certain risks that ordinarily would not be expected in the United States. A change in our estimate of income by
jurisdiction could cause a change in our annual effective tax rate.

We are required to reserve for certain loss contingencies relating to, among other things, income taxes. In
the ordinary course of global business there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax
outcome is uncertain. As a result we are, from time to time, subjected to various US, international and state
tax audits. Accordingly, we reserve for potential tax liabilities due in these various jurisdictions. We review
these tax reserves annually. In connection with our review of the tax reserves for 2004, we determined that the
amount of reserves required for tax exposures was less than the amount recorded in the financial statements.
As a result, we reduced the tax reserves by $7,400 in 2004.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets — In assessing the recoverability of our intangible
assets, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and earnings and other factors used
to determine the fair value of the respective assets. We will record an impairment charge in the amount by
which the carrying value of the assets exceeds their fair value. We generally determine fair value based on
estimated discounted future cash flows. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future,
we may be required to record impairment charges against these assets in the reporting period in which the
impairment is determined. Any such impairment charge could be significant and could have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position and results of operations. We perform an annual test for
impairment of our goodwill as of November 30 of each year and, if events or circumstances occur that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of the goodwill below its carrying amount, will perform an interim
impairment test. We completed the required annual goodwill impairment test as of November 30, 2004, by
comparing the carrying amount of the enterprise to the estimated fair value of the enterprise. Estimated fair
value of the enterprise was determined based upon the market multiple valuation method, which requires that
we utilize estimates of future cash flows, revenue and earnings. As of November 30, 2004, the fair value of the
enterprise was greater than the carrying amount of the enterprise. Therefore, our annual goodwill impairment
test performed as of November 30, 2004 did not result in an impairment of our goodwill. At December 31,
2004, we had approximately $172.7 million of goodwill, which accounted for approximately 28% of our total
assets. Any goodwill impairment test could result in a decrease to the carrying value of goodwill and could
have a material effect on our results of operations and consolidated financial position.

Restructurings — During 2002 and 2001, we initiated consolidation of certain operations in order to
enhance operational efficiency and reduce expenses, and recorded significant restructuring charges in
connection with these actions. Restructuring charges totaled $56.0 million in 2002 and $20.0 million in 2001.
These restructuring charges and our continued analysis of our facilities require us to make estimates based
upon real estate market conditions, rental rates, future corporate requirements, general economic conditions
and future estimated cash flows. Included in the restructuring charges recorded in 2002 are facility exit costs
of $44.0 million, which represents estimated shortfalls of sublease rental income compared to lease payments
due through 2009 under certain exited facilities lease agreements, impaired leasehold improvements and
furniture and fixtures, and other associated facilities expenses. We base estimates related to anticipated
sublease market rates for excess facilities on assumptions regarding the time period required to locate and
contract with suitable subtenants and base these assumptions on market trend information analysis.
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We continue to monitor and assess our facility obligations, real estate markets and our operating
expenses. As a result of these ongoing assessments, during 2004 we recorded a charge of $1.6 million related to
revised estimates of facility exit costs. We revised this estimate of facility exit costs based upon the terms of
finalized subleases and associated costs obtained during the second quarter of 2004. We also reduced our
restructuring reserve by $0.8 million at December 31, 2004 when we determined our remaining severance and
operating costs were lower than originally estimated.

During 2003 we revised estimates used in previously recorded restructuring charges. These revisions
resulted in no net change to our restructuring liability at December 31, 2003. We revised estimates included in
facility exit charges based upon the terms of finalized subleases obtained during 2003, due to lower than
anticipated operating costs and other direct costs associated with certain exited facilities, and due to revisions
in anticipated headcount growth. These revised estimates of excess facility costs resulted in a net increase to
facility exit costs of $0.8 million at December 31, 2003. In addition, we reduced our severance restructuring
reserve by $0.6 million at December 31, 2003 when we determined our remaining severance and other
outplacement costs were lower than originally estimated. We also reduced our restructuring reserve of costs
associated with the liquidation of our Swedish development operations and the sale of certain Swedish assets
by $0.2 million at December 31, 2003 when we determined we had no legal and consulting costs remaining in
connection with this transaction.

We will continue to monitor and assess our facility obligations, real estate markets and our operating
expenses. If the assumptions for the estimates used in our restructuring reserve change due to changes in the
real estate and sublease markets, or due to the terms of sublease agreements that we have obtained, the
ultimate restructuring expenses for these facilities could vary by material amounts, and could cause us to
record additional or revise previously recorded restructuring charges in future reporting periods which could
have a material effect on our results of operations and consolidated position.

Future Accounting Pronouncements — On December 16, 2004, FASB issued a revision to
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” titled “Share-Based Payment.” This revision
requires that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations based on their fair values. The revision will be effective
for public companies for fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The standard offers alternative methods
of adopting the final rule. We have not yet determined which alternative method we will use and the impact on
the financial statements.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain consolidated financial data as a percentage of our total revenue:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Revenue
PrOdUCtS .« .o e 75.6% 14.5% 72.83%
Maintenance and professional services .............. ..., 24.4 25.5 27.2
Total revenue. ... ... o e 100.0 1000 100.0
Cost of revenue
ProdUCES . ..ot e e e e e e 104 12.5 15.4
Maintenance and professional services ............. ..., 7.6 8.0 9.6
Impairment of technology related intangible assets ................ — — 6.2
Amortization of technology related intangible assets ............... — — 2.8
Total costof revenue ........ ... . i 18.0 20.5 34.0
GroSS MArZIN .. ... i ettt ettt et et e 82.0 79.5 66.0
Costs and expenses
Research and development ............ ... ... i, 20.1 20.6 237
Marketing and selling . ...t i e 35.8 36.3 434
General and administrative ......... ... . ... i i 10.6 13.0 13.1
Restructurings . ... 0.3 — 24.1
Impairment of intangible assets. ............ ... ... .. il — — 2.1
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets .................... — — 14
Total . o 66.8 69.9 107.8
Income (loss) from operations ...............ocoriirnennnnnenn... 15.2 9.6 (41.8)
Interest (expense) income and other ...................... ... ... (L. (3.1) (38
Income (loss) from investing activities ..............covivienn. ... 0.1 0.6 (13.3)
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes ............ 14.2 7.1  (58.9)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ............... ..., 2.8 1.4 (17.2)
Netincome (10S8) oo vttt e e et e 114% 57% (41.7)%
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2004 Compared with 2003

Revenue

The following tables set forth the amount, percentage of total revenue and percentage increase of our

revenue by product group, product type and product line:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 Percentage
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage Increase
($ in millions)
Product group:
Enterprise solutions. ................ $279.2 90.8%  $235.8 90.7% 18.4%
Developer solutions . . ............... 28.3 9.2% 24.1 9.3% 17.4%
Total ... .o $307.5 100.0%  $259.9 100.0% 18.3%
Product type:
Authenticators . ................ ... $151.2 49.2% $129.8 49.9% 16.5%
Software products . ................. g1.3 26.4% 63.9 24.6% 27.2%
Maintenance and professional services 75.0 24.4% 66.2 25.5% 13.3%
Total ...t $307.5 100.0%  $259.9 100.0% 18.3%
Product line:
Authentication products . ............ $259.0 84.2%  $2234 86.0% 15.9%
Encryption products ................ 28.0 9.1% 24.0 9.2% 16.7%
Web access management products . . . . 20.5 6.7% 12.5 4.8% 64.0%
Total . ... $307.5 100.0%  $259.9 100.0% 18.3%

The following tables set forth the amount, percentage of total revenue and percentage increase of revenue

by regional area:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 Percentage
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage Increase
($ in millions)
United States........................ $172.7 56.2%  $155.0 59.6% 11.4%
Europe and other .................... 100.6 32.7% 80.2 30.9% 25.4%
Asia Pacific ............ .. ... 34.2 11.1% 24.7 9.5% 38.5%
Total ...... .o $307.5 100.0%  $259.9 100.0% 18.3%

We believe the increase in our total revenue in 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily attributable to

several major factors:

* We have observed that businesses are continuing the trend toward permitting remote access to internal

resources and Web-enabling existing applications.

* Our identity and access management solutions promote our product synergies and enable us to
generate additional revenue by selling additional products to existing customers.

* An increasing number of small and mid-size businesses are adopting our authentication products.

» Some of our existing larger customers have expanded their deployments of our products.

+ Our sales to the financial services and technology vertical markets have continued to provide increased

revenue for us.
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We believe that our future total revenue will be influenced by several major factors:

* As new, lower cost remote access technologies become available and as employment rates increase, we
believe that we will benefit with increased total product revenue.

» We believe that governmental regulations regarding access and distribution of private information will
drive demand for our products.

» We believe that as the United States government proceeds with its agenda of increasing awareness and
funding of cyber-security issues and focusing on homeland security, we may benefit with increased
revenue.

» However, information technology budgets continue to be constrained, and the continued uncertainty in
the economy and global affairs may affect revenue generated from the sales of our products in future
quarters.

Our RSA SecurlD authentication product line generates a substantial portion of our revenue. RSA
SecurlD credentials (includes hardware and software, smart cards and USB) licensed, in thousands, were as
follows:

Percentage
2004 2003 Increase
Number of credentials licensed . ......... ..., 3,887 3,132 24.1%

The increase in number of credentials licensed in 2004 as compared to 2003, contributed to the increased
revenue from our RSA SecurlD authentication product line. We believe our RSA SecurID authentication
products generate and will continue to generate substantial revenue for us.

We believe the increase in our Web access management revenue is due in part to an increase in the
number of companies allowing access of their information and applications by internal and external users. We
believe that our Web access management revenue will continue to grow due to introductions of new
enhancements to our products, including the RSA Federal Identity Manager, strong technology and strategic
partnerships. In addition, we have dedicated a portion of our sales force to focus on selling our emerging
products.

The increase in Developer solutions and encryption revenue during the year ended 2004 as compared to
the year ended 2003 was primarily due to an increase in sales in the technology vertical market. We believe
that Developer solutions revenue may benefit from companies’ needs to secure their transactions due to
various regulatory requirements.

The increase in service revenue for 2004 as compared to 2003 can primarily be attributed to purchases by
new customers coupled with high renewals of annual maintenance contracts from sales of products in prior
periods.

We believe the government sector of our business may increase in the future as government agencies seek
e-security partners in order to execute their cyber-security agenda. Revenue from the government sector of our
business increased 41% during 2004 as compared to 2003.
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Gross Profit

The following table sets forth the gross profit and gross margin for products and maintenance and
professional services:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003
Gross Profit ~ Gross Margin Gross Profit  Gross Margin
($ in millions)

Products..............cooiiii ... $200.6 86.3% $161.4 83.3%
Maintenance and professional services. . . . 51.7 68.5% 45.3 68.5%
Total. ..oooo e $252.3 82.0% $206.7 79.5%

The increase in total gross margin for 2004 as compared to 2003 was primarily a result of our efforts to
reduce costs and improve operating efficiencies, together with an increase in total revenue.

The increase in gross margin for products for 2004 as compared to 2003 was primarily attributable to an
increase in software revenue year over year, which typically has higher margin than other products combined
with a decrease of $4.4 million in our warranty obligation expense in 2004 as compared to 2003. The warranty
obligation expense decrease in 2004 is primarily attributable to significant improvement related to our quality
processes and systems, and the related reduction in component and manufacturing defects.

The increase in gross profit from maintenance and professional services in 2004, as compared to 2003, was
primarily attributable to increased maintenance revenue achieved on decreased customer support costs.

We expect to maintain total gross margins of between 80% and 82% for 2005.

Research and Development

Total research and development expenses increased 15.4% in 2004 to $61.9 million from $53.6 million in
2003, and represented 20.1% of total revenue for 2004. The increase in research and development expenses of
$8.3 million was primarily due to the increase in payroll and consulting expenses of approximately $7.1 million
associated with our continued allocation of resources towards investing in our future product offerings and an
increase in overhead expenses of approximately $1.1 million. We expect total research and development
expenditures will be between 18% and 20% of total revenue for 2005.

Marketing and Selling

Total marketing and selling expenses increased 16.9% in 2004 to $110.2 million from $94.3 million in
2003, and represented 35.8% of total revenue for 2004. Marketing and selling expenses increased $16.0 million
in 2004 as compared to 2003 primarily due to increased labor costs due to an increase in the sales force of
approximately $8.1 million. For 2004 as compared to 2003, approximately $3.5 million of the increase in
marketing and selling expenses was from increased overhead; approximately $1.3 million of the increase was
from increased spending on marketing programs; and approximately $3.1 million of the increase was from
increased commission expense due to increased revenue. We believe total marketing and selling expenditures
will be between 32% and 36% of total revenue in 2005.

General and Administrative

Total general and administrative expenses decreased 3.4% in 2004 to $32.6 million from $33.8 million in
2003, and represented 10.6% of total revenue for 2004. Approximately $5.6 million of the decrease was from
decreased legal fees. This decrease was partially offset by increased payroll and overhead costs of approxi-
mately $3.0 million associated with an increased workforce and increased bonus payouts, approximately
$1.2 million increased consulting fees, and a non recurring expense of $1.2 million for fees and losses on
investment income related to a deferred compensation plan. We believe total general and administrative
expenditures will be between 9% and 11% of total revenue in 2005.
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Restructurings

The following table summarizes our restructuring activities:

Facility Exit Liquidation
Costs & Related of Sweden
Impﬁ?:;Lnts Se(v:e;':tl;ce l())epveerl:tlzg:lesnt Total
Balance at January 1, 2002 ......... ... ... oot $ 98 $1.3 - $11.1
Restructuring charges — 2002 ........... ... ..con... 8.3 5.7 $ 4.4 18.4
Revision of previously recorded restructuring charges —

2002 L _ 357 = _19 316
Total restructuring charges —2002.................... _ 4490 57 _ 63 _56.0
Payments —2002 ..., ... i (5.8) (5.6) (5.7) (17.1)
Write offs — 2002 ... .. ... e _(2.1) i e (12.1)
Total payments and write offs —2002 ................. _(17.9) (5.6) (5.7 (25.2)
Balance at December 31,2002 ..............coovvnnt. 359 1.4 0.6 37.9
Revision of previously recorded restructuring charges —

2003 L e e e 0.8 (0.6) (0.2) _
Payments — 2003 .......... ..ol (8.8) (0.6) (0.4) (9.8)
Write offs — 2003 ...... .. oo _(0.2) e - _(0.2)
Total payments and write offs —2003 ................. _ (9.0 (0.6) $(04) (10.0)
Balance at December 31,2003 ................... ... _21a 02 = 279
Revision of previously recorded restructuring charges —

2004 L. e e __ 10 (0.2) - _08
Payments —2004 ....... .. ..o _ (9.0 = e _(5.0)
Write offs —2004 .. ... ... — e - =
Total restructuring charges —2004.................... _(8.0) (0.2) e _(8.2)
Balance at December 31,2004 ....................... $ 19.7 = = ﬂ__9__7

During the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $56.0 million, consisting
of facility exit costs, costs associated with the liquidation of our Swedish development operations and the sale
of certain Swedish assets and the business related to the asset to TFS Technology AB (“TFS”), and severance
and other costs associated with the reduction of employee headcount, The 2002 restructuring charges include
costs of $37.6 million incurred due to the revision of previously recorded restructuring charges.

During 2002 and 2001, we evaluated and initiated restructuring actions in order to consolidate some of
our operations, enhance operational efficiency and reduce expenses. These actions resulted in total restructur-
ing charges of $56.0 million and $20.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Included in the 2002 restructuring charges were new charges of $8.3 million consisting of facility exit
costs and related impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures. Facility exit costs consist
of estimated shortfalls of sublease rental income compared to obligations due under certain exited facilities
leases which are payable through 2009.

Impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures included in facility exit costs are for
unamortized leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures that we believe will not be recoverable upon
sublease of exited facilities. Total facility exit costs for 2002 include costs of $35.7 million we incurred when
we revised estimates used in previously recorded restructuring charges. We revised the estimates included in
facility exit costs due to the extension of the period of time estimated to obtain sublease tenants for certain
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exited facilities, based on the terms of finalized subleases obtained during 2002, due to higher than anticipated
operating costs associated with certain exited facilities, and due to the continued uncertainty and deterioration
in the commercial real estate and sublet markets in the Boston metropolitan area.

We recorded restructuring charges of $6.3 million during 2002 associated with the liquidation of our
Swedish development operations and the sale of certain Swedish assets and the business related to the assets
to TFS. We sold these assets and related business to TES in exchange in part for TFS’s assumption of the
liabilities related to the assets and associated business, including the related support obligations and certain
employees. The total number of employees included in this transaction was 76, of which 67 were employed in
research and development and 9 were employed in general and administrative functions. The total Sweden
liquidation costs include additional costs of $1.9 million incurred upon revision of estimates used in previously
recorded restructuring charges.

Also included in restructuring charges for 2002 are severance and other costs associated with the
reduction of employee headcount of $5.7 million for 121 employees, of which 15 were employed in
manufacturing, customer operations and technical services, 37 were employed in research and development,
48 were employed in sales and marketing, and 21 employed in general and administrative functions.

During 2003 we revised estimates used in previously recorded restructuring charges. These revisions
resulted in no net change to our restructuring liability at December 31, 2003. We revised estimates of facility
exit charges based upon the terms of finalized subleases obtained during 2003, due to lower than anticipated
operating costs and other direct costs associated with certain exited facilities, and due to revisions in
anticipated headcount growth. These revised estimates of excess facility costs resulted in a net increase to
facility exit costs of $0.8 million at December 31, 2003. In addition, we reduced our severance restructuring
reserve by $0.6 million at December 31, 2003 when we determined our remaining severance and other
outplacement costs were lower than originally estimated. We also reduced our restructuring reserve of costs
associated with the liquidation of our Swedish development operations and the sale of certain Swedish assets
by $0.2 million at December 31, 2003 when we determined we had no legal and consulting costs remaining in
connection with this transaction.

We continue to monitor and assess our facility obligations, real estate markets and our operating
expenses. As a result of these ongoing assessments, during 2004 we recorded a charge of $1.6 million related to
revised estimates of facility exit costs. We revised this estimate of facility exit costs based upon the terms of
finalized subleases and associated costs obtained during the second quarter of 2004. We also reduced our
restructuring reserve by $0.8 million at December 31, 2004 when we determined our remaining severance and
operating costs were lower than originally estimated.

We expect to pay the remaining restructuring costs accrued at December 31, 2004 as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2005 .. ... ..ot e $6.0 million
Year ending December 31,2006 ... ... i e 4.7 million
Year ending December 31, 2007 ... ... i e 4.3 million
Year ending December 31, 2008 ... ... .. oo e 2.9 million
Year ending December 31, 2009 and thereafter................. ... .. ... 1.8 million
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Interest Expense and Other

Interest expense and other includes the following:

Years Ended
December 31,

2004 2003

($ in millions)
Interest expense on 7% convertible debentures. .............. ... ... ... $(4.2) $(5.7)
Non cash amortization of deferred financing costs .......................... (L.3) (l1.6)
Non cash accretion of warrant value . .......... ... .. .ot (L. (14)
Interest income net of expense and other ........ ... ... ... ... . ... 3.6 1.3
Unrealized loss from foreign currency translation ........................... _(0.3) _(0.6)
Total interest expense and other ....... ... ... ... .. i $(3.3) $(8.0)

Interest expense, non cash amortization of deferred financing costs and non cash accretion of warrant
value included in interest expense and other were incurred in connection with our 7% convertible debentures
which we issued in October and November 2001. The decrease in interest expense in 2004 as compared to
2003 was due to the conversions to common stock of $80.0 million of our convertible debentures in June and
October 2004. Accordingly, we are no longer required to pay interest on these debentures. The increase in
interest income net of expense and other in 2004 as compared to 2003 was primarily due to higher cash and
cash equivalent balances and marketable securities maintained in 2004 as compared to 2003. The unrealized
loss from foreign currency translation was primarily due to the weakening of the US dollar during 2004.

Income from Investing Activities

Income from investing activities includes the following gains:

Years Ended
__December 31,
2004 2003

($ in millions)

Gain from sale of marketable securities, net.......... ... .. ... . L. —_— —
Income from sale of investments .......... ...t renenanennnn.. $0.2 $1.6
Decline in fair value of Crosby Finance, LLC .............................
Investment impairment charges ........... ... i

»
e
[ %]
—_
=N

Total income from investing activities ............. ... it

Provision for Income Taxes

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to estimate our income taxes in each
of the jurisdictions in which we operate, including those outside the United States which may be subject to
certain risks that ordinarily would not be expected in the United States. A change in our estimate of income by
jurisdiction could cause a change in our annual effective tax rate.

We recorded an income tax provision of $8.7 million for 2004 compared to an income tax provision of
$3.7 million for 2003. Our effective tax rate decreased to 19.9% for 2004 from 20.0% for 2003. We currently
expect our tax rate to be approximately 20.0-22.0% for 2005.

We assessed the realization of our deferred tax assets at the end of 2004 and concluded that due to
historical and forecasted tax losses, which are primarily attributable to tax deductions for employee stock
options and to restructuring costs accrued in prior years, we could not meet the more likely than not standard.
Accordingly, we recorded a valuation allowance in 2004 of $10.8 million against our deferred tax assets,
primarily various net operating loss and R&D tax credit carryforwards. Approximately $5.7 million of the
valuation allowances are allocable to continuing operations and impacted our effective tax rate for the year.
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The remaining $5.1 million of valuation allowances reflect the impact of employee stock options and are
allocable directly to shareholders equity.

We are required to reserve for certain loss contingencies relating to, among other things, income taxes. In
the ordinary course of global business there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax
outcome Is uncertain. As a result we are, from time to time, subjected to various US, international and state
tax audits. Accordingly, we reserve for potential tax liabilities due in these various jurisdictions. We review
these tax reserves annually. In connection with our review of the tax reserves for 2004, we determined that the
amount of reserves required for tax exposures was less than the amount recorded in the financial statements.
As a result, we reduced the tax reserves by $7.4 million in 2004.

2003 Compared with 2002
Revenue

The following tables set forth the amount, percentage of total revenue and percentage increase
(decrease) of our revenue by product group, product type and product line:
Years Ended December 31, Percentage
2003 2002 Increase
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage (Decrease)
($ in millions)

Product group:

Enterprise solutions. . ............c..co.o.u... $235.8 90.7%  $204.7 88.2% 15.2%
Developer solutions . ............ccovvvennn.. 24.1 9.3% 27.4 11.8% (12.0)%
Total . ..o $259.9 100.0%  $232.1 100.0% 12.0%
Product type:
Authenticators . ......... ... . i $129.8 49.9% $107.8 46.5% 20.4%
Software products .. .......... ... ... ... 63.9 24.6% 61.2 26.3% 4.4%
Maintenance and professional services . ........ 66.2 25.5% 63.1 27.2% 4.9%
Total ..o $259.9 100.0%  $232.1 100.0% 12.0%
Product line:
Authentication products ... ........... .. ... .. $223.4 86.0% $197.7 85.2% 13.0%
Encryption products ....... ... ... .. 24.0 9.2% 26.3 11.3% (8.7)%
Web access management products ............ 12.5 4.8% 8.1 3.5% 54.3%
Total ... $259.9 100.0%  $232.1 100.0% 12.0%

The following tables set forth the amount, percentage of total revenue and percentage increase of revenue
by regional area:

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 Percentage
Revenue  Percentage  Revenue  Percentage Increase
(3 in mitlions)
United States. .. .....coviiiniiniiiinaaan $155.0 59.6% §$138.6 59.7% 11.8%
Europe and other .......... ... .. .. ... ..... 80.2 30.9% 70.2 30.3% 14.2%
AsiaPacific ....... ... ... 247 9.5% 23.3 10.0% 6.0%
Total ..o $239.9 100.0%  $232.1 100.0% 12.0%

We believe the increase in total revenue in 2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily attributable to
businesses continuing the trend toward permitting remote access to internal resources and Web-enabling
existing applications.
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Our RSA SecurID authentication product line generates a substantial portion of our revenue. RSA
SecurlD credentials (includes hardware and software, smart cards and USB) licensed, in thousands, were as
follows:

Percentage
2003 2002 Increase
Number of credentials licensed . . ......... ..., 3,132 2,568 22.0%

The increase in number of credentials licensed contributed to the increased revenue from our RSA
SecurID authentication product line.

Our sales to the financial services, technology and telecommunications vertical markets continue to
provide increased revenue for us. In addition, we believe the increase in our total revenue can be attributed in
part to the continued adoption of our authentication products by an increasing number of small and mid-size
businesses, combined with existing larger customers expanding their deployments of our products.

We believe the increase in our Web access management revenue is due in part to an increase in the
number of companies opening up their information and applications to internal and external users. In addition,
we have made a change to our sales strategy to dedicate a portion of our sales force to focus on selling our
emerging products, while selling our more mature products through our resellers and distributors.

The decrease in Developer solutions and encryption revenue during 2003 as compared to 2002 was
primarily due to the decrease in the number of technology companies funding development of new information
technology products, and the availability of free, “open source” products that compete with our RSA BSAFE
product line and which continue to put pressure on our Developer solutions revenue. We believe that our
Developer solutions revenue may have benefited from companies’ needs to secure their transactions due to
regulatory requirements.

The increase in service revenue for 2003 as compared to 2002 can primarily be attributed to purchases by
new customers coupled with high renewals of annual maintenance contracts from sale of products in prior
periods.

Revenue from the government sector of our business was consistent during 2003 as compared to 2002 as
the United States government continued to defer its information technology spending.

Gross Profit

The following table sets forth the gross profit and gross margin for products and maintenance and
professional services: '

Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002
Gross Profit  Gross Margin Gross Profit Gross Margin
($ in millions)

Products(l) ......covviviiiii .. $161.4 83.3% $112.3 66.4%
Maintenance and professional services. . . . 45.3 68.5% 40.9 64.8%
Total. ... $206.7 79.5% $153.2 66.0%

(1) Total gross profit and gross margin and gross profit — products and gross margin — products reflect the
reclassification of amortization of technology related intangible assets of $6.6 million from operating
expense to cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002, and also reflects the reclassification of
impairment of technology related intangible assets of $14.3 million from operating expense to cost of
revenue expense for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Included in the gross profit for products for 2002 is a $2.9 million charge for inventory write down related
to discontinued product designs and for product quality warranty obligation expenses. The increase in total
gross margin for 2003 as compared to 2002, was primarily attributable to the decrease of $6.6 million in
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amortization of technology related intangible assets expense and the decrease of $14.3 miilion in impairment
of technology related intangible assets for 2003 as compared to 2002, These decreases were partially offset by a
$1.9 million increase in the provision of warranty expense in 2003 as compared to 2002.

We believe the increase in gross margin for products in 2003 as compared to 2002, after excluding the
items mentioned above, can be attributed, in part, to the increase in our software revenue. Qur software
products have higher gross margins than our other product types, and an increase in software revenue would
cause our gross margin from products to increase. The increase in total gross margin in 2003 was also
attributable to our efforts to reduce costs and improve operating efficiencies, combined with an increase in
total revenue.

The increase in gross profit from maintenance and professional services in 2003 as compared to 2002, was
primarily attributable to increased maintenance revenue achieved on decreased customer support costs.
Customer support costs decreased due to cost reduction programs implemented over the past two years.

Research and Development

Total research and development expenses decreased 2.6% in 2003 to $53.6 million from $55.1 million in
2002, and represented 20.6% of total revenue for 2003. For 2003 as compared to 2002, the decrease in research
and development expenses of $1.5 million was primarily due to the decrease in overhead expenses of
approximately $2.8 million offset by the increase in payroll and consulting expenses of approximately
$1.3 million associated with our continued allocation of resources towards investing in our future product
offerings.

Marketing and Selling

Total marketing and selling expenses decreased 6.3% in 2003 to $94.3 million from $100.7 million in
2002, and represented 36.3% of total revenue for 2003. Marketing and selling expenses decreased $6.4 million
in 2003 as compared to 2002 primarily due to cost reduction measures. For 2003 as compared to 2002,
approximately $4.8 million of the decrease in marketing and selling expenses was from decreased overhead
costs associated with cost reduction measures, approximately $2.9 million of the decrease was from decreased
spending on marketing programs, and approximately $1.6 million of the decrease was from a reduction in bad
debt expense. These reductions were partially offset by approximately $2.9 million of increased commission
expense due to increased revenue.

General and Administrative

Total general and administrative expenses increased 11.6% in 2003 to $33.8 million from $30.3 million in
2002, and represented 13.0% of total revenue for 2003. For 2003 as compared to 2002, approximately
$2.8 million of the increase was from increased payroll and overhead costs associated with an increased
workforce and increased bonus payouts, and approximately $0.7 million of the increase for professional fees
incurred in connection with on-going litigation.

Acquisitions

During 2001, we completed four acquisitions, which were accounted for as purchases. Accordingly, the
results of operations of the acquired companies have been included in our consolidated statements of
operations since their respective dates of acquisition.

In September 2001, we acquired all of the capital stock of Securant, a privately held company that
developed the ClearTrust Web access management solution, for an aggregate of $139.1 million in cash
including acquisition costs. In May 2001, we acquired all of the capital stock of 3G1, a privately held company
that developed smart card and biometric authentication products, and substantially all of the assets of
Transindigo, a privately held company that developed real time Web access management software products,
for an aggregate of $23.7 million in cash including acquisition costs and litigation expenses. In February 2001,
we acquired all of the capital stock of Xcert, a privately held company that developed digital certificate-based
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products for securing e-business transactions, for $69.7 million in cash, including acquisition costs, plus the
assumption of all Xcert stock options.

Allocation of the purchase prices for all four acquisitions completed during 2001 were based on estimates
of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on independent appraisals. These
allocations were as follows:

Estimated Fair Values

3GI and Estimated
Securant Xcert Transindigo Total Life
($ in millions)
Assets and liabilities, including cash .... §$ (0.6) $ 4.8 $ 6.8 $ 11.0
Goodwill ........... ... .. ... ... 123.6 57.7 13.5 194.8
Intangible assets(1) .................. 19.6 12.9 2.9 354 1to 7 years
Deferred tax liabilities, net(1l) ......... (7.3) (5.1) (L.1) (13.3)
In process research and development . .. 3.8 2.5 1.6 1.9
Total purchase price ................. 139.1 72.8 23.7 235.6
Less: assumption of stock options . ..... — (3.1) — (3.1)
Less: cash acquired .................. 2.1) (04) (6.9) (9.4)
Netcashpaid....................... $137.0  $69.3 $16.8 $223.1

(1) We recorded an impairment charge of $19.1 million during 2002 to reduce the carrying value of these
intangible assets to zero at December 31, 2002. Accordingly, we did not record any amortization expense
related to these intangible assets after December 31, 2002. As a result of this impairment charge, we
reduced the deferred tax liabilities associated with the intangible assets to zero at December 31, 2002.

Pursuant to two separate escrow agreements entered into in connection with the Securant acquisition,
$21.0 million of the cash purchase price otherwise payable to Securant’s shareholders was placed in escrow,
pending settlement of any claims for breach of representations, warranties or covenants in the merger
agreement. One escrow agreement put $20.0 million of the purchase price into an escrow fund. We received
$3.3 million from this Securant escrow fund during the year ended December 31, 2003 in final settlement of
outstanding escrow fund claims, which resulted in a decrease to goodwill of $3.3 million. The remainder of the
escrow fund was released to the selling shareholders during March 2003. The second escrow agreement put
$1.0 million of the Securant purchase price into an escrow fund. The remaining unclaimed balance of the
$1.0 million Securant escrow fund not subject to a pending claim is scheduled to be released to the selling
shareholders during 2005.

" Pursuant to an escrow agreement, $3.0 million of the cash purchase price otherwise payable to 3GI’s
stockholders was placed in escrow, pending settlement of any claims for breaches of representations,
warranties or covenants in the merger agreement. We submitted claims against the 3GI escrow totaling
approximately $3.0 million and received an aggregate of $2.6 million from the 3GI escrow fund in settlement
of these claims, of which $0.1 million was received during 2003, resulting in a decrease to goodwill of
$0.1 million during 2003. The remainder of the escrow fund was released to the selling stockholders during
March 2003 '

Pursuant to an escrow agreement, $10.5 million of the cash purchase price otherwise payable to Xcert’s
stockholders was placed in escrow, pending settlement of any claims for breaches of representations,
warranties or covenants in the merger agreement. We released all but $0.5 million of the Xcert escrow fund to
the selling stockholders in August 2002. We received approximately $0.1 million from the escrow fund in
settlement of certain tax issues during 2002, and the balance of the $0.5 million was released to the selling
stockholders during 2003.

As a result of our adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” on January 1,
2002 we reclassified in-place workforce related intangible assets into goodwill, resulting in an increase to
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goodwill and a decrease to intangible assets of $8.3 million. In addition, upon reclassification of in-place
workforce related intangible assets to goodwill and determination of indefinite lived assets, we reversed the
deferred tax liabilities related to these intangible assets. The reversal of deferred tax liabilities resulted in a
decrease to goodwill and deferred tax liabilities of $3.1 million.

In 2002, we paid $0.6 million to Xcert stockholders upon finalization of the working capital calculation.
The costs of the working capital adjustment has been added to the purchase price of Xcert and resulted in an
increase to goodwill of $0.6 million during 2002.

We incurred litigation expenses in connection with a patent litigation relating to the products acquired in
the May 2001 acquisition of 3GI and recorded these expenses as related costs of acquisition. The costs to
defend the 3GI lawsuit were covered by the escrow fund set aside from the 3GI purchase price. The costs of
litigation and disbursements from the 3GI escrow resulted in a net increase to goodwill of $0.1 million during
2002.

The amounts allocated to in process research and development (“IPR&D”) projects were expensed in
the quarter that the related acquisition was consummated because technological feasibility of the IPR&D
projects had not been achieved and there were no alternative future uses. IPR&D expense of $7.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2001 represents the write off of IPR&D in connection with the acquisition of
Securant, Xcert, 3GI and Transindigo.

Restructurings

During 2002 and 2001, we evaluated and initiated restructuring actions in order to consolidate some of
our operations, enhance operational efficiency and reduce expenses. These actions resulted in total restructur-
ing charges of $56.0 million and $20.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

We continue to monitor and assess our facility obligations, real estate markets and our operating
expenses. As a result of these ongoing assessments, during 2003 we revised estimates used in previously
recorded restructuring charges. These revisions resulted in no net change to our restructuring liability at
December 31, 2003. We revised estimates of facility exit charges based upon the terms of finalized subleases
obtained during 2003, due to lower than anticipated operating costs and other direct costs associated with
certain exited facilities, and due to revisions in anticipated headcount growth. These revised estimates of
excess facility costs resulted in a net increase to facility exit costs of $0.8 million at December 31, 2003. In
addition, we reduced our severance restructuring reserve by $0.6 million at December 31, 2003 when we
determined our remaining severance and other outplacement costs were lower than originally estimated. We
also reduced our restructuring reserve of costs associated with the liquidation of our Swedish development
operations and the sale of certain Swedish assets by $0.2 million at December 31, 2003 when we determined
we had no legal and consulting costs remaining in connection with this transaction.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $56.0 million, consisting
of facility exit costs, costs associated with the liquidation of our Swedish development operations and the sale
of certain Swedish assets and the business related to the asset to TFS Technology AB (““TFS”), and severance
and other costs associated with the reduction of employee headcount. The 2002 restructuring charges include
costs of $37.6 million incurred due to the revision of previously recorded restructuring charges.

Included in the 2002 restructuring charges are costs of $44.0 million consisting of facility exit costs and
related impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures. Facility exit costs consist of
estimated shortfalls of sublease rental income compared to obligations due under certain exited facilities leases
which are payable through 2009. The remaining unreserved lease obligations related to certain exited facilities
amount to $8.2 million, which represents our estimated sublease income from these facilities from the end of
the reserve period to the end of the lease term. Impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and
fixtures included in facility exit costs are for unamortized leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures
that we believe will not be recoverable upon sublease of exited facilities. Total facility exit costs for 2002
include costs of $35.7 million we incurred when we revised estimates used in previously recorded restructuring
charges. We revised the estimates included in facility exit costs due to the extension of the period of time
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estimated to obtain sublease tenants for certain exited facilities, based on the terms of finalized subleases
obtained during 2002, due to higher than anticipated operating costs associated with certain exited facilities,
and due to the continued uncertainty and deterioration in the commercial real estate and sublet markets in the
Boston metropolitan area. '

We recorded restructuring charges of $6.3 million during 2002 associated with the liquidation of our
Swedish development operations and the sale of certain Swedish assets and the business related to the assets
to TFS. We sold these assets and related business to TFS in exchange in part for TFS’s assumption of the
liabilities related to the assets and associated business, including the related support obligations and certain
employees. The total number of employees included in this transaction was 76, of which 67 were employed in
research and development and 9 were employed in general and administrative functions. The total Sweden
liquidation costs include additional costs of $1.9 million incurred upon revision of estimates used in previously
recorded restructuring charges.

Also included in restructuring charges for 2002 are severance and other costs associated with the
reduction of employee headcount of $5.7 million for 121 employees, of which 15 were employed in
manufacturing, customer operations and technical services, 37 were employed in research and development,
48 were employed in sales and marketing, and 21 employed in general and administrative functions.

Restructuring charges accrued and unpaid at December 31, 2003 were as follows:

Facility Exit Liquidation
Costs & Related of Sweden
Asset Severance Development  Purchased
Impairments Costs Operations Technology Total

Balance at January 1, 2001 .............. $ 04 — — — $ 04
Total restructuring charges — 2001 ........ 9.7 5.9 — 4.4 20.0
Payments — 2001 ...................... (0.3) (4.6) — 4.9)
Write offs — 2001 ...................... — — — (44) (4.4)
Total payments and write offs — 2001 ..... (0.3) (4.6) — (4.4) (5.3)
Balance at December 31,2001 ........... 9.8 1.3 — — 11.1
Restructuring charges — 2002 ............ 8.3 5.7 $ 4.4 — 18.4
Revision of previously recorded restructuring

charges — 2002 .......... ...t 35.7 — 1.9 — 37.6
Total restructuring charges — 2002 ........ 44.0 5.7 6.3 —_ 56.0
Payments — 2002 ...................... (5.8) (5.6) (5.7) — (17.1)
Write offs —2002 ...................... (12.1) — — — (12.1)
Total payments and write offs — 2002 ..... (17.9) (5.6) {5.7) —_ {29.2)
Balance at December 31,2002 ........... 359 1.4 0.6 — 37.9
Revision of previously recorded restructuring

charges — 2003 ................uun. 0.8 (0.6) (0.2) — —
Payments — 2003 ...................... (8.8) (0.6) (0.4) — (9.8)
Write offs —2003 ...................... (0.2) — — — (0.2)
Total payments and write offs — 2003 ... .. (3.0) (0.6) $(0.4) — (10.0)
Balance at December 31,2003 ........... $ 277 . $ 0.2 — — $ 279

In 1999, we commenced and substantially completed consolidation of certain operations in order to
enhance operational efficiency. We recorded facility exit costs consisting primarily of estimated shortfalls of
sublease rental income compared to minimum lease payments due under a lease agreement. During 2003, we
revised our estimate of these facility exit costs and reduced the reserve for these facility exit costs to zero.
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We expect to pay the remaining restructuring costs accrued at December 31, 2003 as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2004 ... ... . e $9.0 million
Year ending December 31, 2005 ... ... .o 7.4 million
Year ending December 31,2006 ... i 6.6 million
Year ending December 31,2007 . ... e 2.9 million
Year ending December 31,2008 ......... . . 1.3 million
Year ending December 31,2009 ....... ... .. 0.7 million

Interest Expense and Other

Interest expense and other includes the following:

Years Ended
December 31,
2003 2002
(8 in millions)
Interest expense on 7% convertible debentures. .. ........covvvivneeeinnn .. $(5.7) $(5.7)
Non cash amortization of deferred financing costs .......................... (1.6) (1.6)
Non cash accretion of warrant value . ....... ... ... o i i il (14 14
Interest income net of expense and other .. ............... ... ... ... . 1.3 0.1
Unrealized loss from foreign currency translation ............... ... ... .... (0.6) (0.2)
Total interest expense and other ....... ... . o i $(8.0) $(8.8)

Interest expense, non cash amortization of deferred financing costs and non cash accretion of warrant
value included in interest expense and other were incurred in connection with our 7% convertible debentures
which we issued in October and November 2001. The increase in interest income net of expense and other in
2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily due to higher cash and cash equivalent balances maintained in 2003
as well as a decrease in fixed asset disposals of $0.8 million in 2003 as compared to 2002. The unrealized loss
from foreign currency translation was primarily due to the weakening of the US dollar during 2003.

Income (Loss) from Investing Activities

Income (loss) from investing activities includes the following gains (losses):

Years Ended
December 31,

003 2002
{$ in millions)
Gain from sale of marketable securities, net .......... ... . i — % 07
Income (loss) from sale of investments ............ ... i ininn.. $1.6 (2.9)
Decline in fair value of Crosby Finance, LLC .................... ... ... ... — (6.8}
Investment impairment charges ........... ... . i i _— (219
Total income (loss) from investing activities .. .............vveerenrnnnunn-- $1.6 $(309)

During 2002, we recognized total investment impairment charges of $21.9 million related to our long-
term investments in privately held companies. Included in total investment impairment charges in 2002, and
as a result of our initiation of a process to sell our equity investments, we recorded an impairment charge of
$12.0 million to reflect the investments at their estimated realizable value, less costs of disposal. Also during
2002, and included in total investment impairment charges, we recorded an impairment charge of $9.9 million
based upon valuations and anticipated cash proceeds to reduce the carrying amount of three investments to
their estimated fair value for three companies in which we had invested that were in the process of obtaining
additional financing or being sold. During 2003, we completed the sale of our equity investments and recorded
a gain from the sale of approximately $1.6 million.
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The carrying amount of our 99% interest in Crosby was $0.2 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, .
respectively. We accounted for our investment in Crosby under the guidelines of EITF No. 96-12,
“Recognition of Interest Income and Balance Sheet Classification of Structured Notes.” Accordingly, we
carried our interest at fair value with all changes in fair value reported in income from investing activities. We
determined the fair value of our interest in Crosby based on the fair value of Crosby’s right to potentially
receive additional cash proceeds upon maturity of the variable delivery forward contract (“VDF”). The
decline in fair value of our interest in Crosby was $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

We recorded an income tax provision of $3.7 million for 2003 compared to a benefit of $(39.9) million for
2002. Our effective tax rate decreased to 20.0% for 2003 from 29.2% for 2002. The decrease in our effective
tax rate in 2003 was primarily attributable to the increased profitability of our international operations, where
the effective tax rates are generally lower than the United States statutory rate.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liguidity
We had $68.2 million in cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2004, consisting primarily of
operating cash and short-term investments. This represents a decrease of $139.1 million in cash and cash

equivalents due to an investment of $131.7 million of cash equivalents into marketable securities during the
year ended December 31, 2004.

Cash provided by operations of $52.9 million during 2004 consisted primarily of net income of
$34.9 million and a variety of non cash changes, including depreciation.

Working capital increased by $162.0 million in 2004. This was primarily the result of the conversion of
$80.0 million of the principal amount of convertible debentures during 2004, and $52.9 million in cash
provided by operating activities and $42.6 million provided by financing activities.

Any increase or decrease in our accounts receivable balance and accounts receivable days outstanding
(calculated as net accounts receivable divided by revenue per day) will affect our cash flow from operations
and liquidity. Our accounts receivable and accounts receivable days outstanding may increase due to changes
in factors such as the amount of international sales and length of customer’s payment cycle. We also record
deferred maintenance billings as accounts receivable, and the timing of these billings affects the accounts
receivable days outstanding. Historically, international and indirect customers pay at a slower rate than
domestic and direct customers. An increase in revenue generated from international and indirect customers
may increase our accounts receivable days outstanding and accounts receivable balance. If the economy
deteriorates, we may observe an increase in the length of our customers’ payment cycle. To address increases
in accounts receivable balance and to improve cash flow, we may from time to time take actions to encourage
earlier payment of receivables. Discounts offered to customers to encourage payment are deducted from
revenue. To the extent that our accounts receivable balance increases, we may incur increased bad debt
expense and increased estimates for reserves against revenue and will be subject to greater general credit risks.

Cash used for investing activities of $234.0 million during 2004 consisted primarily of $427.9 million of
cash used for the purchase of marketable securities and $11.1 million of cash used to purchase property and
equipment and other long term assets, which was partially offset by $205.9 million of cash provided by the sale
and maturities of marketable securities. Our plans for future uses of cash may include acquisitions of other
entities or technologies and additional purchases of property and equipment. We anticipate capital expendi-
tures will be primarily for purchases of property and equipment and will aggregate approximately $8 to
$10 million for 2005. We expect to fund our capital expenditures from cash on hand and cash generated from
operations.

Cash provided by financing activities of $42.6 million during 2004 consisted primarily of proceeds from
employee exercises and purchases under our stock option and employee stock purchase plans.
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The following are our contractual commitments associated with our lease obligations and restructurings:

Years Ending December 31,
2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total
($ in millions)

Leases . ovvvvmt e $14.6 $146 $146 $14.5 $82.6 $140.9
Restructurings . ........... ... oo i oL 6.0 4.7 4.3 29 1.8 19.7
Total commitments. ..........coviineenn..... $20.6 $19.3 $18.9 $17.4 $84.4 $160.6

We have commitments for various operating leases worldwide that expire at various times through 2017
and that are shown below net of existing sublease agreements, excluding facility exit costs included in
restructuring charges. The lease commitments of $140.9 million shown also include lease commitments of
$14.2 million related to certain exited facilities that have not been reserved for in restructuring charges, which
represents our estimated sublease income from these facilities from the end of the period reserved to the end
of the lease term. Restructuring commitments shown below are primarily for facility exit costs of up to
60 months of minimum lease payments due under certain excess facilities lease agreements, net of related
sublease agreements.

During October and November 2001, we issued 7% convertible subordinated debentures with an
aggregate principal amount of $80.0 million. In June 2004, a holder of a debenture with a principal amount of
$10.0 million converted the full amount of this debenture into shares of our common stock, which conversions
resulted in the issuance of an aggregate of 727,537 shares of our common stock and the cancellation of the
holder’s debenture. After these conversions the remaining aggregate principal amount of the 7% convertible
subordinated debentures was $70.0 million. In October 2004, the holders of the remaining outstanding
convertible debentures converted the full amount of the debentures into shares of our common stock, which
conversions resulted in the issuance of an aggregate of 5,092,760 shares of our common stock and the
cancellation of all outstanding 7% convertible subordinated debentures. There were no cash outflows in
connection with these conversions.

In connection with the conversions, we paid interest on the debentures in the aggregate amount of
$1.4 million during October 2004. Now that the debentures have converted to common stock, we are no longer
obligated to pay any interest on the debentures in the future. We currently have no debt nor have found it
necessary, given our success in generating cash from operations and our significant liquidity, to obtain a credit
facility.

We believe that cash generated from our operating activities will be sufficient to fund our working capital
requirements, including our restructuring liabilities, through at least the next twelve months. We anticipate
that current cash on hand, cash generated from operations, and cash generated from the exercise of employee
options and employee stock purchase plans will be adequate to fund our planned capital and financing
expenditures for at least the next twelve months.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

In November 2000, we transferred approximately 2.6 million shares of VeriSign common stock, which
were covered by three forward contracts (“Forwards™) and one VDF, to Crosby Finance, LLC, of which we
were, until December 2004, a 99% member. Crosby was a bankruptey-remote qualified special purpose entity,
established specifically to securitize the shares of VeriSign common stock. We accounted for the contribution
and the transfer as a sale under SFAS No. 125, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” Accordingly, we did not consolidate Crosby for accounting purposes.
Until December 2004, the counterparty to the VDF contract held the remaining 1% interest in Crosby. On
December 30, 2004, we sold our 99% interest in Crosby Finance to Deutsche Bank AG for a purchase price of
$.02 million. We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2004.
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Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)

2004
Revenue...........ccoiveeenen... $71,968 $75,577 $76,731 $83,231
Gross profit . ..................... 58,142 62,114 62,905 69,113
Income before provision for income

TAXES . o vttt 8,069 9,971 11,056 14,555
Netincome ...................... 6,455 7,976 8,741 11,810
Basic earnings per share ........... § 011 $ 0.13 $§ 0.14 $ 0.17
Diluted earnings per share ......... $ 0.10 $ 0.12 $ 013 $ 0.16
2003
Revenue............covvvvvevnnn $61,264 $63,402 $64,462 $70,738
Grossprofit.............. ... ..... 48,082 50,380 51,524 56,667
Income before provision for income

TAXES . v vttt e 2,671 3,750 4,707 7,428
Netincome.................cu... 1,744 3,230 3,648 6,214
Basic earnings per share ........... $ 003 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 $ 010
Diluted earnings per share ......... $ 003 $ 0.05 $ 0.06 $ 0.10

CERTAIN FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

Our operating results tend to fluctuate from quarter to quarter. Qur quarterly operating results have
fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the future. A variety of factors, many of which are
outside of our control, can cause these fluctuations, including, among others:

+ the size, timing and shipment of individual orders for our products;
 changes in our operating expenses;
+ the timing of the introduction or enhancement of our products and our competitors’ products;

+ customers deferring their orders in anticipation of the introduction of new products by us or our
competitors;

+ market acceptance of new products;
+ changes in the mix of products sold;
« changes in product pricing, including changes in competitors’ pricing policies;

+ development and performance of our direct and indirect distribution channels and changes in the mix
of vertical markets to which we sell our products;

+ the amount and timing of charges relating to the impairment or loss of value of some of our assets,
especially goodwill and intangible assets;

s the timing of personnel departures and new hires and the rate at which new personnel become
productive; and

* general economic conditions.

We may not be able to achieve, sustain or grow our profitability from quarter to quarter. Because our
operating expenses are based on anticipated revenue levels and a high percentage of our expenses are fixed, a
small variation in when revenue is recognized can cause significant variations in operating results from quarter
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to quarter. Our business has historically tended to be seasonal, with the last quarter of the year having the
highest amount of revenue and the first quarter of the year having the lowest amount of revenue.

Our stock price has been volatile and is likely to remain volatile. From December 31, 2003 through
February 28, 2005 our stock price has ranged from a per share high of $23.91 to a low of $14.19. A number of
factors may contribute to the volatility of our stock price, including:

* our ability to meet the expectations of brokerage firms, industry analysts and investors with respect to
our operating and financial results;

« our public announcements and our competitors’ public announcements;

+ the public’s perception of the strength of the e-security solutions market and technology companies
generally;

+ litigation developments;
» the volatility of the stock market in general and of the technology sector in particular; and
s general economic conditions.

If the market for e-security solutions does not continue to grow, then demand for our products may
decrease. The market for some of our e-security solutions is continuing to develop, and demand for our
products depends on, among other things:

+ the perceived ability of our products to address real customer problems;

+ the perceived quality, price, availability and interoperability of our products as compared to our
competitors’ products;

» the market’s perception of how easy or difficult it is to deploy our products, especially in complex,
heterogeneous network environments;

+ the continued evolution of electronic commerce as a viable means of conducting business;
» market acceptance and use of new technologies and standards;
« the ability of network infrastructures to support an increasing number of users and services;

+ the public’s perception of the need for secure .electronic commerce and communications over both
wired and wireless computer networks;

» the U.S. government’s continued focus on e-security as a means to counteract terrorism and other
hostile acts;

s the pace of technological change and our ability to keep up with these changes;
+ the market’s perception of our products’ ability to address the e-security aspects of various laws; and

+ general economic conditions, which, among other things, influence how much money our customers
and potential customers are willing to allocate to their information technology budgets.

Unless we keep up with the ongoing changes in e-security technology and standards, then our products
could become obsolete. Qur success depends in part upon our ability to enhance our existing products and to
introduce new, competitively priced products and solutions with features that meet changing market
requirements, all in a timely and cost-effective manner. A number of factors, including the following, could
have a negative impact on the success of our products:

+ quality, reliability or security failures, which could result in product returns, delays in collecting
accounts receivable, unexpected service or warranty expenses, reduced orders and a decline in our
competitive position;

+ delays or difficulties in product development;
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» our competitors’ introduction of new products or services ahead of our new products or services, or their
introduction of superior or cheaper products or services;

+» the availability of free, unpatented implementations of encryption algorithms and security protocols;

« the market’s failure to accept new technologies, including connected authentication devices , smart
cards, enterprise strong authentication, Web access management, digital certificates and public and
private key management;

+ our failure to include features in our products, or obtain industry and governmental certifications, that
our customers or U.S. or foreign government regulators may require;

+ our failure to anticipate changes in customers’ requirements; and

» the implementation of industry or government standards that are inconsistent with the technology
embodied in our products.

To remain competitive we may need to acquire other companies or purchase or license technology from
third parties in order to introduce new products or enhance our existing products. We may not be able to find
businesses that have the technology we need and, if we find such businesses, may not be able to purchase or
license the technology on commercially favorable terms or at all. In addition, acquisitions and technology
licenses are difficult to identify and complete for a number of reasons, including the cost of potential
transactions, competition among prospective buyers and licensees and the need for regulatory approvals. In
order to finance a potential transaction, we may need to raise additional funds by selling our stock or borrowing
money. We may not be able to find financing on favorable terms, and the sale of our stock may result in the
dilution of our existing stockholders.

Some of our products have long and unpredictable sales cycles, which may impact our quarterly operating
results. Transactions for some of our products, especially our Web access management products, often
involve large expenditures by our customers. The sales cycles for these transactions can be long and
unpredictable due to a number of uncertainties such as:

 customers’ budgetary constraints;
» the need to educate potential customers about our products’ capabilities;

+ customers’ willingness to invest potentially substantial resources and modify their network infrastruc-
tures to take advantage of our products;

» the timing of customers’ budget cycles;
» delays caused by customers’ internal review processes; and
« for sales to the federal government, federal regulatory, approval and purchasing requirements.

If we fail to obtain a sufficient supply of high-quality RSA SecurID authenticators or components, then
we may be unable to fill customer orders or may need to replace defective authenticators shipped to our
customers. Problems with the availability or quality of our products could cause our revenue to decrease and
our costs to increase, damage our reputation in the marketplace and subject us to damage claims from our
customers. Examples of quality and possible availability problems include:

+ In 2002 and 2003, our quarterly analysis of historical failure and defective return rates indicated that
certain RSA SecurlD authenticators produced between 2000 and 2002 were subject to higher defect
and failure rates.

¢ Many of our suppliers are located outside of the United States. If political, economic, health-related or
natural events, such as the U.S. actions in Iraq or the 2004 earthquake and tsunami disasters in Asia,
were to affect international trade, then we could experience difficulties in obtaining product compo-
nents from our international suppliers.
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We depend on a limited number of suppliers for some of our product components. If our existing
suppliers were unable to provide us with a sufficient supply of quality components, then we would have
to expend significant resources to find new suppliers, and it is possible that we would be unable to find
new suppliers in a timely manner.

If we fail to remain competitive, then we could lose market share for our established products or fail to
gain market share for our less mature products. A number of competitive factors could cause us to lose
potential sales or to sell our products at lower prices or at reduced margins, including, among others:

Some of our competitors offer e-security products with features and functionality that our products do
not currently offer or at a lower price than we offer.

Some computer and software companies that have not traditionally offered e-security products are now
offering free or low-cost e-security products and functionality bundled with their own computer and
software products.

Some of our current and potential competitors have greater financial, marketing and technical
resources than we do, allowing them to leverage an installed customer base and distribution network,
adapt more quickly to new technologies and changes in customer requirements, or devote greater
resources to the promotion and sale of their products than we can.

Our industry is undergoing consolidation, with larger firms acquiring some of our competitors. A larger
firm that acquires a competitor may be a greater threat to us than the original, smaller competitor was
for the reasons described in the immediately preceding bullet point.

Our issued U.S. patents expire at various dates ranging from 2005 to 2018. When each of our patents
expires, competitors may develop and sell products based on the same or similar technologies as those
covered by the expired patent.

The expiration of some of our patents has also permitted the use and distribution of “freeware,” free
versions of some of our technology, and we believe that some potential customers may be choosing to
use freeware instead of buying our products.

Many companies have reduced their information technology budgets due to the current economic
conditions, which could make competition more intense because we are competing for fewer customer
dollars.

International sales make up a significant portion of our business. International sales accounted for more
than 40% of our total revenue in each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. There are certain
risks inherent in doing business internationally, including:

foreign regulatory requirements and the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws;
legal uncertainty regarding liability and the costs of resolving or litigating a dispute internationally;
difficulties in the enforcement of intellectual property rights;

export and import restrictions on cryptographic technology and products incorporating that technology;
difficulties and delays in establishing international distribution channels;

the need to tailor or “localize” our products in order to compete in particular international markets and
to comply with foreign laws;

difficulties in collecting international accounts receivable;

fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

potentially adverse tax consequences, including restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;
tariffs and other trade barriers; and

political instability.
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During times when the global economy experiences weakness or uncertainty, we may have difficulty
selling our products and services. The global economy, especially the technology sector, can be volatile, and
an economic slowdown can have serious negative consequences for our business and operating results. For
example, during a period of economic weakness or uncertainty, current or potential customers may defer
purchases, go out of business or have insufficient capital to buy or pay for our products. Companies may also
reduce their budgets for information technology products and services, which could reduce or eliminate some
potential sales of our products and services. In addition, if our resellers and distributors experience financial
difficulties due to an uncertain economy, then we may have difficulty selling to and collecting money from
those resellers and distributors.

Our excess facilities are costly. We currently lease a number of excess, unused or under-used facilities,
and our lease commitments for some of these facilities will not expire for several years. Although we have
found sublessees for substantially all of these facilities, if any of our sublessees were to fail to pay their portion
of the rent to our landlords due to financial difficulties or for any other reason, then we would be responsible
for paying the full rental amount.

If we fail to protect our rights in our proprietary technology, competitors may use our technology, which
could weaken our competitive position, reduce our revenue and increase our costs. We rely on a combination
of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, software licenses, nondisclosure agreements and
technical measures to protect our proprietary technology. However, despite our efforts to protect our
proprietary rights, unauthorized third parties may nonetheless succeed at:

+ copying aspects of our products;

* obtaining and using information that we regard as proprietary; or

» infringing uporn our patents and other proprietary rights.

We rely on patents to protect our proprietary rights in our technology, but patents may not provide
complete protection:

+ It is possible that any patent that we or our licensors hold might be invalidated, circumvented,
challenged or terminated.

» It is possible that patent examiners might reject the claims described in our pending or future patent
applications.

» The laws of some countries in which our products are now, or may in the future be, developed or sold
may not protect our products and intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the
United States.

+ During the life of a patent, third parties may design and sell “work-around” solutions that accomplish
the goals of our patented inventions but do not infringe the patents themselves.

Our industry is highly litigious. From time to time, we have been involved in disputes with third parties
who allege that our products may infringe intellectual property rights held by the third parties. Any litigation
carries a number of significant risks, including:

» litigation is often very expensive, even if it is resolved in our favor; and

+ litigation diverts the attention of management and other resources.

Moreover, if a court or other government agency rules against us in any intellectual property litigation, we
might be required to:

» discontinue the use of certain processes;

» cease the manufacture, use and sale of infringing products;

+ expend significant resources to develop non-infringing technology;

» obtain licenses to the infringing technology; or

* pay significant monetary damages.
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We must establish and maintain strategic relationships. We need to create relationships with third
parties, including some of our competitors, to ensure that our products will interoperate with the third parties’
products. If our products do not work with third-party products used by our customers and potential
customers, then our products could lose or fail to achieve market acceptance. In addition, one of our business
strategies is to enter into strategic marketing alliances or other similar collaborative relationships in order to
reach a larger customer population than we could reach alone through our direct sales and marketing efforts. If
we cannot create relationships with strategic partners, then we will need to devote more resources to sales and
marketing.

We may not be able to find appropriate strategic partners or may not be able to enter into relationships on
commercially favorable terms. Furthermore, the relationships we do enter into may not be successful. Because
our strategic relationships are generally non-exclusive, our strategic partners may decide to pursue alternative
technologies or to develop alternative products in addition to or instead of our products, either on their own or
in collaboration with our competitors.

Security technologies are under constant attack. The strength of our cryptographic and other e-security
technologies is constantly being tested by computer professionals, academics and “hackers.” Any significant
advance in the techniques for attacking e-security solutions could make some or ail of our products obsolete or
unmarketable. From time to time, we have learned of attempts by third parties to reverse engineer our
products to find vulnerabilities. If a third party successfully “hacks” any of our products and makes its findings
public, then we may need to dedicate engineering and other resources to eliminate the published vulnerabili-
ties. For example, if a third party were to hack our RSA SecurID solution, then some of our customers could
require that we replace some or all of their RSA SecurID authenticators with authenticators that are more
secure. If we are required to make these replacements or if we cannot address the vulnerabilities in our
products in a timely fashion, then our business and operating results could be adversely impacted. In addition,
our customers and potential customers could perceive our products as unreliable, making it more difficult for
us to sell our products.

We may incur significant expenses and damages because of liability claims. An actual or perceived
breach of network or data security at our facilities or at a customer’s facilities could result in a product liability
claim against us. A substantial product liability claim against us could harm our operating results and financial
condition. In addition, any actual or perceived breach of network or data security, whether or not caused by
the failure of one of our products, could hurt our reputation and cause potential customers to turn to our
competitors’ products.

Our stockholder rights plan and some provisions of our charter may inhibit potential acquisition bids.
We have a classified board of directors and have also adopted a stockholders rights plan, both of which could
make it more difficult for a potential acquiror to complete a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our
company. While these provisions are intended to enable our board to maximize stockholder value, they may
have the effect of discouraging takeovers that could be in the best interest of certain stockholders and may
therefore have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of
the Delaware General Corporation Law, which regulates corporate acquisitions. These provisions could
discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change in control transaction. They
could also have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our common stock and
preventing changes in our management.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to a variety of risks, including changes in the market value of our marketable securities,
investments, our common stock and foreign exchange rates. Market fluctuations could impact our results of
operations and financial condition. In the normal course of business, we employ established policies and
procedures to manage these risks.
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Our marketable securities and cash equivalent investments are generally high credit quality instruments,
primarily U.S. Treasury and government agency obligations, taxable municipal obligations and money market
investments with the average maturity of the total investment portfolio being two years or less. For securities
where the interest rate is adjusted periodically, the reset or auction date will be used to determine the
maximum maturity date. Accordingly, we believe that our potential interest rate exposure in investments is not
material.

We also currently have no debt. Accordingly, we have no direct exposure to movements in interest rates.

As a global concern, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. These
exposures may change over time as our business practices evolve and could have a material adverse impact on
our financial results. Our primary exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates relate to sales
and operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the US dollar. The operations of our foreign
subsidiary in Ireland are measured using the U.S. dollar as its functional currency, while all of our other
foreign branches and subsidiaries operations are measured using the local currencies as the functional
currencies. Our sales to our customers in countries outside of the United States are primarily billed through
Ireland and are thus denominated in U.S. dollars. When we do invoice customers in a non U.S. dollar
currency, we are exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from the time of invoice until collection occurs. In
Ireland, where we invoice our customers in U.S. dollars, we pay our operating expenses in local currencies.
Accordingly, fluctuations in the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar are reflected directly in our income statement.
We are also exposed to foreign currency rate fluctuations between the time we collect in U.S. dollars and the
time we pay our operating expenses in local currency. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could
affect the profitability and cash flows in U.S. dollars of our products sold in international markets.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Because of its inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures rhay deteriorate.

QOur management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2004. Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in its report which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
RSA Security Inc. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RSA Security Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity
and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15 (a) (2).
These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion,

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of RSA Securities Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 11,
2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  DeLoOITTE & ToucHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
RSA Security Inc. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting that RSA Security Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 of the Company and our report dated March 11,
2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule.

/s/ DELOITTE & ToucHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2003
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RSA SECURITY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2004

2003

(In thousands, except
share data)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ........... ... .0ttt $ 68,210 $207,323
Marketable SECUMIES . . . ..ottt e e 221,509 —
Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,672 in 2004 and
B1,849 00 2003) .o 53,494 34,085
InVenmtOTy . . o e 3,465 4,011
Prepaid expenses and other assets ..........c.coovuiiii i 8,702 6,641
Refundable income taxes . ...ttt et e 3,146 11,062
Deferred 1aXes ..ottt 2,459 2,942
Total CUTENt ASSBS . ..t vttt e e e e e e e e 360,985 266,064
Property and equipment, Det. ...ttt e 70,700 68,149
Other assets
GoodWill, It ..ot e e 172,736 189,260
Deferred taXes ..ot e e 8,222 —
OthET . e e 12,184 6,879
Total Other @SSets .\ v vttt e e e e 193,142 196,139
$624,827  $530,352
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Convertible debentures . ......... ittt i e $ — § 78,877
Accounts payable . . ... e 10,995 8,021
Accrued payroll and related benefits . ............. . ... . . . 18,964 16,246
Accrued expenses and other liabilities............... ... ... ... ... ... 18,952 19,730
Current portion of accrued restructurings .. ...ttt i 6,031 9,043
Income taxes accrued and payable .............. .. ... . il 22,479 29,128
Deferred revenue . ... . i e e 51,135 34,625
Total current liabilities . ... ... ot e 128,556 195,670
Deferred taxes, long-term ... ... ..ot e e -— 7,046
Accrued restructurings, 1ong-term ... ......ouuurrrr i e 13,682 18,861
O ET oo 6,057 —_
Total Habilities . ... ..o e 148,295 221,577
Commitments and Centingencies
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $0.01 par value; authorized 300,000,000 shares; issued 71,567,587
and 62,144,158 shares, outstanding 71,567,587 and 60,870,590 shares in 2004 and
2003, TeSPECtIVELY « . it 716 621
Additional paid-in capital ... ... ... 119,527 —
Retained eamings. . ... ..ottt i e e 353,343 359,730
Treasury stock, at cost; zero and 1,273,568 shares in 2004 and 2003, respectively — (53,852)
Accumulated other comprehensive income. ....... ..., 2,946 2,276
Total stockholders” equity ...t 476,532 308,775
$624,827  $530,352

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RSA SECURITY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue

ProdUCES . o oo e e $232,497 $193,664 $168,954

Maintenance and professional services .......................... ~ 75,010 66,202 63,130
Total TEVENUE . . v vttt e e e e . 307,507 259,866 232,084
Cost of revenue

Products . ..o e e 31,423 32,329 35772

Maintenance and professional services .................coiin... © 23,302 20,877 22,207

Impairment of technology related intangible assets ............... — — 14,333

Amortization of technology related intangible assets .............. 508 7 6,587
Total cost of revenue . ...ttt e 55,233 53,213 78,899
Gross Profit ... oottt e 252,274 206,653 153,185
Costs and expenses

Research and development .............. ... ... ... ... ... 61,887 53,629 55,061

Marketing and selling . .. ...... ... .o 110,248 94,298 100,673

General and administrative ......... ... .0 i i 32,638 33,776 30,256

Restructurings ... ... e 782 — 56,036

Impairment of intangible assets....................... e — — 4,807

Amortization of intangible assets ................. ... .. ... ... — — 3,337

0 | 205,555 181,703 250,170

Income (loss) from operations .............. ..o, 46,719 24,950 (96,985)
Interest expense and other........ ... ... ... . i, (3,278) (7,962) (8,778)
Income (loss) from investing activities ...................cc.ovnn. 210 1,568 (30,937)
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes ........... 43,651 18,556  (136,700)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .............. ... ... . ... ... 8,669 3,720 {39,876)
Net income (10SS) .o vvtt i e e . $ 34982 § 14,836  $(96,824)
Basic earnings (loss) per share

Per share amount ........... o e $§ 054 § 025 § (1.71)

Weighted average shares .......... ... ... . oo, 64,309 58,758 56,621
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Per share amount ...t e $ 051 $ 024 § (1.71)

Weighted average shares .......... ... ... . o i, 64,309 58,758 56,621

Effect of dilutive equity instruments............. ... ... .. ..... 4,329 3,546 —

Adjusted weighted average shares.................. ... . ... ... 68,638 62,304 56,621

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Balance, Januvary 1, 2002 .......

Issuance of common stock from
exercise of stock options and
purchase plans ..............

Tax benefit on the exercise of
stock options ...............

Stock compensation ...........
Comprehensive loss:
Translation adjustments ........

Unrealized loss on marketable
securities, net of tax .........

Netloss ......ccovvvenenann..
Total comprehensive loss ... . ...
Balance, December 31, 2002 . ...

Issuance of common stock from
exercise of stock options and
purchase plans ..............

Tax benefit on the exercise of
stock options ...............

Comprehensive income:
Translation adjustments ........
Netincome ..................

Total comprehensive income . ...

Balance, December 31, 2003 .. ..

Issuance of common stock from
exercise of stock options and
purchase plans ..............

Issuance of common stock from
debt conversion .............

Tax benefit on the exercise of
stock options (net of valuation
allowance of $5,125) ... ......

Stock compensation ...........
Share repurchase program ......
Comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments ........

Unrealized loss on marketable
securities, net of tax ... ......

Netincome ..................
Total comprehensive income .. ..

Balance, December 31, 2004 .. ..

RSA SECURITY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Accumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensive Total
_ Common Stock  "pyid.in.  Retained Treasury Stock Income Stockholders’
Shares Amount  Capital Earnings Shares Amount (Loss) Equity
(In thousands, except share data)
62,144,158  $621  $124,022 $451,320 5,734,276 $(218,081)  $(4,469) $353,413
(23,566) (656,813) 27,527 3,961
328 328
40 40
2,938 2,938
(422) (422)
(96,824) (96,824)
- . (94,308)
62,144,158 621 100,824 354,496 5,077,463  (190,554) (1,953) 263,434
(106,309)  (9,602) (3,803,895) 136,702 20,791
5,485 5,485
4,229 4,229
14,836 14,836
19,065
62,144,158 621 — 359,730 1,273,568 (53,852) 2,276 308,775
3,602,029 37 30,013 (41,369) (1,323,568) 54,763 43,444
5,820,297 58 79,942 80,000
9,552 9,552
1,103 20 20
50,000 (1) (911)
942 942
(272) (272)
34,982 34,982
35,652
71,567,587 $716  $119,527 $353,343 — — $ 2,946 $476,532

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RSA SECURITY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (10SS) .. ..ottt ettt e e e $ 34,982 § 14,836 $(96,824)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash prov1dcd by
operating activities:
Depreciation ... ..o 11,174 13,223 16,612
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets ...................... — — 9,924
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options ......................... 9,552 5,485 328
RESITUCTUTING . . o\ e ettt et it ie e e — — 9,242
Amortization of convertible debentures deferred financing costs ....... 1,271 1,605 1,611
WaITant @CCIetiON . . o\ vttt et ettt e et e e 1,123 1,400 1,375
(Income) loss from investing activities ...............coiivn. .. (398) (1,542) 2,249
Investment valuation impairment .......... ... o i 188 (26) 28,689
Impairment of intangible assets .............. ... ... ... ... ..., — — 19,140
Deferred taxes . . ... .ot 1,891 11,825 2,204
Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in, net of the effect of
acquisitions:
Accounts receivable ... ... . ... P (18,968) 2,082 22,782
InVentOrY . . it e 546 (1,676) 6,923
Prepaid expenses and other assets .............................. (1,917) (846) 5,482
Accounts payable ... ... e 2,870 916 (198)
Accrued payroll and related benefits ............... ... .. .. 2,358 4,201 (472)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . ................ ... ..., (1,019) 1,945 3,037
Accrued TestruCtUrings . . ..o vv et e (8,191) (9,781) 27,566
Refundable income taxes and income taxes accrued and payable .. .. 1,270 36,657 (21,459)
Deferred revenue ....... ... e 16,209 1,202 3,825
Net cash provided by operating activities ...................... 52,941 81,506 42,036
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of marketable securities . ............c.coviii i, (427,878) — —
Sales and maturities of marketable securities ... .................... 205,950 — 1,150
Purchases of property and equipment ............................. (11,088) (4,247) (4,665)
Investments . ... ... i e e 28 3,041 317
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ............ . ... ... el — 3,370 (997)
O her L e e (1,001) (1,377) (117)
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities ............. (233,989) 787 (4,312)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and purchase plans........... 43,464 20,791 3,961
Share repurchase Program . ... ..oovvrever et eriarerennrennns (911) — —
Other .o e e — — (18)
Net cash provided by financing activities ...................... 42,553 20,791 3,943
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .......... (618) 1,209 (583)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ................. (139,113) 104,293 41,084
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ........................ 207,323 103,030 61,946
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year.............................. $ 68,210 $207,323  $103,030
Other cash flow information:
Cash payments for interest eXpense ...........vvrrerrrnrrnnnnenn.. $§ 7,003 $ 5724 § 3947
Cash payments for inCome taxes ..........covvviriinreenninneennnnens $ 3238 $ 1,749 $ 1,791

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:

In 2004, the holders of our convertible debentures with a principal amount of $80,000 converted the full
amount of the debentures into shares of our common stock. These conversions resulted in the issuance of an
aggregate of 5,820,297 shares of our common stock and the cancellation of the holders’ debentures. We made no
principal payment in connection with the conversions. These conversions resulted in the increase of additional paid
in capital of $79,942 and an increase in the value of our common stock of $58 during the twelve months ending

December 31, 2004.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business — RSA Security Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries are focused on helping
customers confidently protect and manage identities and information access. With approximately 17,000
customers worldwide, RSA Security has a 20-year track record of award-winning solutions. Built to work
seamlessly in heterogeneous environments, our portfolio of identity access and management solutions is
designed to inspire customers to confidently exploit the full power of the Internet as well as secure access to
valuable information assets in their enterprise networks

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of
our wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of our ¢consolidated financial statements are in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and require management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition — Revenue is recognized when earned. We recognize revenue from the sale of
products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or
determinable, and collection is considered probable. We recognize revenue from licensing other intellectual
property when evidence of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is considered
probable. We reduce revenue by provisions for estimated returns. When arrangements contain multiple
elements and vendor specific objective evidence of fair value exists for all undelivered elements, we recognize
revenue for the delivered elements using the residual method. For arrangements containing multiple elements
where vendor specific objective evidence of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements, we defer
revenue for the delivered and undelivered elements until vendor specific objective evidence of fair value exists
or all elements have been delivered. We recognize revenue upon shipment of product to its stocking
distributors, net of estimated returns. We defer maintenance services revenue, whether sold separately or as
part of a multiple element arrangement, and recognize it ratably over the term of the maintenance contract,
generally twelve months.

Some of our arrangements contain bundled products which include a term software license, an RSA
SecurID® authenticator and support for the term of the license. As these arrangements contain multiple
elements where vendor specific objective evidence of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements, we
record these arrangements as deferred revenue and recognize revenue ratably on a monthly basis over the term
of the license agreement.

For arrangements which contain an initial prepaid license fee with the payment of ongoing royalties, we
recognize revenue on the initial prepaid license fee when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is considered probable. The ongoing
royalties are recognized at the time a reliable estimate can be made of the actual usage that has occurred,
provided collection is probable. Annual license fees or onetime license fee arrangements typically contain non-
refundable terms, therefore we recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is considered probable.

We recognize revenue allocated to professional service elements as the services are performed. When the
customization is essential to the functionality of the licensed software, then both the software license and
professional services revenue are recognized under the percentage of completion method, which requires
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revenue to be recognized as a percentage of the project completed. We recognize revenue and gross profit
using labor hours as an input measure of progress to completion on these arrangements.

Allowance for Sales Returns — Allowances for estimated sales returns and allowances on products and
maintenance and professional service revenue are recorded in the same period as the related revenue is
recorded. We base these estimates on historical sales returns, analysis of credit memo data, current economic
trends, product line and customer industry and other known factors.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses
resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We analyze accounts receivable and
the composition of the accounts receivable aging, historical bad debts, customer creditworthiness, current
economic trends, and changes in customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for
doubtful accounts. Bad debt expense is included in marketing and selling expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations.

The following table presents changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

2004 2003 2002
Balance, beginning of period ............. ... ... .. ... L $ 1,849 § 2,494 § 2,659
Provision for doubtful accounts . ........covvrnniia... — — 1,553
Write-offs . ..o e (429) (1,461) (3,159)
Recoveries of accounts previously written off ................. 252 816 1,441
Balance,end of period .......... .ottt i $ 1,672 $ 1,849 $ 2,494

Allowance for Warranty Obligations — Our standard practice is to provide a warranty on all RSA
SecurlD® hardware authenticators for the customer selected programmed life of the authenticator (generally
two to five years) and to replace any defective authenticators (other than authenticators damaged by a user’s
abuse or alteration) free of charge. We sell our other products to customers with a warranty for product
defects for a specified period, generally ninety days. We provide reserves for warranty obligations based on
historical failure and defective return rates and include these costs as a component of product cost of revenue.
We reevaluate the estimate of warranty and defective return obligations, including the assumptions about
estimated failure and return rates, each quarter.

During 2002 and 2003, our quarterly analysis of historical failure and defective return rates indicated that
certain authenticators produced between 2000 and 2002 were subject to higher defect and failure rates. We
have increased our provisions for warranty expense accordingly. We continue to monitor warranty claims and
reevaluate its estimate of warranty and defective return obligations in future periods, which may result in
recording additional warranty expense.

We monitor warranty claims and address defects through our quality and design processes, which are
managed by our product engineering, quality control and technical support organizations. During the last
several years, we have increased resources and initiated new programs to build an expanded family of high
performance authentication solutions. These programs have resulted in the redesign and re-engineering of
authenticator products to improve performance and reliability by incorporating new microprocessors, electron-
ics, firmware and batteries with longer lives.
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Accrued warranty reserve is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated balance

sheets. The following table presents changes in the warranty reserve:
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Balance, beginning of period ........ ..o $ 3878 $ 156 § 124
Provision for warranty eXpense . .............coieunniniaan... 209 4,614 2,752
Deductions. . ....coi i e e e (2,188) (2,302) (1,310)
Balance, end of period .........coviiii $ 1,899 $ 3878 § 1,566

Cash Equivalents — All highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months
or less at the date of purchase are considered cash equivalents.

Marketable Securities — Marketable securities are classified as “available for sale” and recorded at
market value using the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses are included in accumulated
other comprehensive income, net of tax effects. Realized gains or losses are determined based on the specific
identified cost of the securities. Any unrealized losses that are considered to be “other than temporary” are
charged immediately to the income statement.

Inventory — Inventory consists primarily of RSA SecurID authenticators and is stated at the lower of
cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are stated at cost and revalued for effects of foreign
currency translation. Furniture and equipment are depreciated by the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, generally two to ten years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated by the straight-
line method over the lease term or estimated useful live of the related asset, whichever is shorter. Buildings are
depreciated over fifty years, the estimated useful life. Property and equipment sold or retired is eliminated
from the accounts in the year of disposition and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in earnings.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets — Goodwill and other acquisition related identifiable intangible assets are
stated at fair value as of the date acquired in a business acquisition accounted for as a purchase, net of
accumulated amortization. Effective January 1, 2002 the adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” required that the amortization of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets be
discontinued, and instead be evaluated at least annually for impairment. Accordingly, we discontinued
amortizing goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002, We evaluate goodwill for
impairment on November 30 of each year and at an interim date if events or circumstances occur that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of the goodwill below its carrying amount. We evaluate the carrying
value of goodwill and other intangible assets against the estimated fair value of its assets and will record an
impairment charge in the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceed their estimated fair value.
Estimated fair value is determined based on estimated discounted future cash flows or a market multiple
valuation method. There were no impairments recorded in 2004 and 2003.

The following table presents changes in goodwill for 2004 and 2003:

2004 2003
Balance, beginning of period. ..ottt $189,260 $192,629
Tax benefit from utilization of acquisition net operating losses .......... (12,578) —
Tax benefit of deductible acquisition costs .................c.cv.n.. (3,946) —
Acquisition escrow fund settlements ............... ... ..., — (3,369)
Balance, end of period. . .......coit i $172,736  $189,260
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We utilized approximately $35,937 of acquisition related net operating loss carryforwards in 2004. The
applicable $12,578 tax benefit reduced goodwill in 2004. The tax benefit from any future utilization of the
remaining acquisition related net operating loss carryforwards will also reduce the carrying value of goodwill
and other intangible assets which arose from the acquisitions that we completed in 2001.

We had recorded a deferred tax liability for merger expenses of $3,946 at December 31, 2003. This
represents the tax benefit of an amount that was deducted for tax purposes in 2001 but was not deducted for
financial statement purposes. The deferred tax liability was eliminated in 2004 and the applicable tax benefit
reduced goodwill.

We received $3,369 from escrow funds of prior acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2003 in
final settlement of outstanding escrow fund claims, which resulted in a decrease to goodwill of $3,369.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other Than Goodwill — We test long-lived assets for recoverability
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverability of long-lived assets is assessed by comparing the undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated to the carrying value of the assets. If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying
value of the assets, an impairment charge is recognized. The amount of an impairment charge is determined
by comparing the carrying amount of the long-lived asset to its fair value. Fair value is determined based on
estimated discounted cash flows.

Deferred Financing Costs — Deferred financing costs include investment bank fees, legal fees and other
financing costs paid in connection with the issuance of convertible debentures and are included on the
consolidated balance sheets in other assets. Deferred financing costs were amortized over the period the
convertible debentures were outstanding using the straight line method, which was not materially different
from the effective interest rate method. All deferred financing costs were fully amortized as of December 31,
2004.

Financial Instruments — The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities,
accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these
instruments.

Investments where our ownership is less than 20% and we do not have significant influence on the
operating or financial decisions of the investee are accounted for using the cost method. The carrying value of
these investments is equal to cost less investment valuation impairment charges. We regularly consider
available evidence in evaluating its investments for potential impairment. Certain events, such as an initial
public offering, could result in the reclassification of an investment to an available for sale marketable security.

Research and Development — Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Advertising — Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and were approximately $2,416, $869 and
$2,950 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Income Taxes — Deferred income taxes are recognized based on temporary differences between the
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the statutory tax rates and laws expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided against net deferred tax assets if, based
upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income and the timing of the temporary differences becoming deductible. Management considers, among
other available information, scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and
other matters in making this assessment.
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Income taxes are provided on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries where such earnings are
expected to be remitted to the U.S. parent company. We determine annually the amount of unremitted
earnings of foreign subsidiaries to invest indefinitely in non-U.S. operations. Unrecognized provisions for taxes
on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are considered permanently invested, are not material
to our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Foreign Currency — The financial statements of our foreign subsidiary in Ireland are measured using the
U.S. dollar as its functional currency. The financial statements of all other of our foreign branches and
subsidiaries are measured using the local currencies as the functional currencies. In circumstances where the
functional currency is the local currency, assets and liabilities are translated to their U.S. dollar equivalents at
balance sheet date exchange rates and revenue and expenses are translated from functional currencies to
U.S. dollar equivalents at average exchange rates in effect during the year. Any gain or loss from these
translations are included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Foreign currency transaction gains and
losses and transaction gains or losses arising from Ireland are included in interest expense, income and other in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share — We compute basic earnings (loss) per share using the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding. We compute diluted earnings per share using the weighted average
number of shares outstanding plus the effect of potential outstanding shares, including options and warrants,
using the “treasury stock” method. Diluted loss per share excludes the effect of equity instruments including
convertible debentures, options and warrants, as such instruments are antidilutive.

Common Stock Warrants — Warrants to purchase shares of our common stock are recorded at fair value.
We estimate the fair value of warrants using the Black-Scholes model at the time of issuance. The fair value of
the warrants was amortized to expense over the expected life of the related 7% convertible debentures using
the straight-line method, which was not materially different than the effective interest rate method.

Treasury Stock — Shares of our common stock that are repurchased are recorded in treasury stock at
cost and included as a component of stockholders’ equity. We relieve the costs associated with the reissuance
of shares of common stock out of treasury using the first-in, first-out method.

Concentration of Credit Risk — We provide e-security solutions to various customers in diverse
industries. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and maintain allowances for potential
credit losses. We had two significant customers who are distributors, whose aggregate balances accounted for
approximately 19% and 20% of total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans — Stock-based compensation cost is accounted for using the intrinsic
value method. Under this intrinsic value method, compensation expense, if any, is recognized based on the
difference between the fair value of the underlying stock and the price of the option at the measurement date.
Measurement date is defined as that time when both the number of shares and the exercise price become
known. The measurement date is generally the date the award is made.
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Pro Forma Disclosure — Had we recognized compensation costs for our stock option and purchase plans
based on the fair value for awards under our stock compensation plans, pro forma net income (loss) and pro

forma net income (loss) per share would have been as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net income (loss) as reported ............covvuee..... $ 34982 $ 14,836 $ (96,824)
Add: stock-based compensation expense included in reported

net income (loss), net of related tax effects ............ 20 — 40
Less: stock based compensation expense determined under

fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects (27,598)  (36,178) (37,716)
Pro forma net income (108S) ..........covvriirnennnn.. $ 7,404 $(21,342) $(134,500)
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic earnings (loss) per share — as reported........... $ 054 $§ 025 $§ (17D

Basic earnings (loss) per share — pro forma............ $§ 012 § (036) $ (2.38)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share — as reported ......... $ 051 $§ 024 $ (17D

Diluted earnings (loss) per share — pro forma.......... $ 011 § (036) $§ (2.38)

The fair values used to compute pro forma net income (loss) per share were estimated at the grant date
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

Stock Option Plans:

Risk-free interest rate .. ...t
Expected life of option grants (years) ..........covvivieveneen....
Expected volatility of underlying stock.............. . ... ... ...
Expected dividend paymentrate . . ........ ... oo
Expected forfeiture rate ....... .. ... ..
Weighted average fair value of stock options granted................
Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

Risk-free interest rate ... ... .. i
Expected life of option grants (years) ..............coveiveeie. .
Expected volatility of underlying stock.................. ... . ...
Expected dividend paymentrate . ............ .. ..ol
Weighted average fair value of purchase rights granted ..............

2004 2003 2002
30 28% 3.8%

4,19 43 4.4
84.0% 87.0% 90.0%
0.0% 00% 0.0%
7.5% 1.5% 1.5%

$10.98  $6.57  $3.11
1.0% 1.1% 1.7%

0.5 0.5 0.5
40.0% 77.0% 112.0%
0.0% 00% 0.0%

$ 399 $2.68 $2.14

Reclassification — Certain previously disclosed and prior year amounts in 2003 have been reclassified to
conform to the 2004 presentation, including accounts receivable and accrued expenses of $775 for the year

ended December 31, 2003.

Future Accounting Pronouncements — On  December 16, 2004, FASB

issued a

revision to

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” titled “Share-Based Payment.” This revision
requires that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations based on their fair values. The revision will be effective
for public companies for fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The standard offers alternative methods
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of adopting the final rule. We have not yet determined which alternative method we will use and the impact on
our financial statements.

2. Investments and Financial Instruments

Our marketable securities at December 31, 2004 were as follows:

Net
Unrealized
Cost Basis Losses Recorded Basis
Debt securities recorded at market, maturing
Withinone year..........c i, $ 70,111 $(133) $ 69,979
Greater than one year. ............covivvinnnnnnnn 151,816 (285) 151,530
Total marketable securities .......... ..ot inn.. $221,927 $(418) $221,509

Amortized Accrued  Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Interest Gains Losses Fair Value

US Government and agency securities  $ 50,809  $440 $30 $(285) § 50,994
Corporate debt securities............. 27,780 147 — (163) 27,764
Auction rate securities. . ............. 142,550 201 = _ 142,751
Total marketable securities........... $221,139  $788 $30 $(448)  $221,509

We have determined that the gross unrealized losses on our investment securities at December 31, 2004
are temporary in nature. We review our investments to identify and evaluate investments that have indications
of possible impairment. Factors considered in determining whether a loss is temporary include the length of
time and extent to which fair value has been less than the cost basis, the financial condition and near-term
prospects of the investee, and our intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to
allow for any anticipated recovery in market value. All of our fixed income securities are rated investment
grade or better. As of December 31, 2004, 48 marketable securities held were in gross unrealized loss
positions.

Our investments were as follows at:
December 31,

2004 2003
Equity securities recorded at cost. ..., $ — $ 1,000
Impairment of equity securities recorded at cost ....................... — (1,000)
Total equity securities recorded at cost . ......... oo — —
Investment in Crosby Finance, LLC .. ... ... ... ... .. i i, — 208
Total INVESIMENTS . . ..t e $ — § 208

Equity securities recorded at cost include preferred stock and common stock that is not publicly traded or
whose sale is prohibited by contractual or statutory restrictions.

56




RSA SECURITY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Income (loss) from investing activities includes the following gains (losses):
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Gain on sale of marketable securities, net ..................... $ — $§ — § 834
Income (loss) on sale of investments ......................... 398 1,542 (3,082)
Increase (decline) in fair value of Crosby Finance, LLC......... (188) 26 (6,823)
Investment impairment charges ................ ... ... ... — — (21,866)
Total income (loss) from investing activities ................... $ 210 81,568  $(30,937)

During 2002, we recognized investment impairment charges totaling $21,866 related to its investments in
privately held companies. Included in total investment impairment charges in 2002 and as a result of our
initiation of a process to sell our equity investments we recorded an impairment charge of $11,966 to reflect
the investments at their estimated realizable value, less costs of disposal. Also during 2002, and included in
total investment impairment charges, we recorded an impairment charge of $9,900 to reduce the carrying
amount of three investments to their estimated fair values. We considered offers to buy, recent valuations and
current financial positions of the investments in estimating realizable value. Estimated realizable value of
these investments less costs of disposal was $1,400 and was included in investments on the consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2002. We completed the sale of these investments during 2003 and recognized
income of $1,542 from the sale of investments.

In November 2000, we transferred 2,636,916 shares of VeriSign, Inc. (“VeriSign”) common stock,
which was covered by three forward contracts (“Forwards™) and one variable delivery forward (“VDF”), to
Crosby Finance, LLC, of which we were, until December 2004, a 99% member. Crosby was a bankruptcy-
remote qualified special purpose entity, established specifically to securitize the shares of VeriSign common
stock. We accounted for the contribution and the transfer as a sale under SFAS No. 125, “Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” Accordingly, we did not
consolidate Crosby for accounting purposes. Until December 2004, the counterparty to the VDF contract held
the remaining 1% interest in Crosby.

At December 31, 2003, Crosby held 2,027,325 shares of VeriSign common stock and the VDF contract.
The VDF contract entitled Crosby to receive cash proceeds of up to $35,336 depending on the market price of
VeriSign common stock on January 3, 2006. The closing price of VeriSign’s common stock on The
NASDAQ National Market on December 31, 2003 was $16.30 per share. Unless the value of the VeriSign
stock were to appreciate to at least $87.16 per share in January 2006, Crosby would not be entitled to any cash
proceeds. Crosby had no liability or obligation to its members or to the counterparty to the VDF contract other
than to deliver the shares of VeriSign common stock to the counterparty upon maturity of the VDF contract
and to distribute the cash proceeds, if any, to its members. After settlement of the VDF in January 2006,
Crosby would dissolve.

The carrying amount of our 99% interest in Crosby was $208 at December 31, 2003, and was included in
other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. We accounted for our investment in Crosby under the
guidelines of EITF No. 96-12, “Recognition of Interest Income and Balance Sheet Classification of
Structured Notes.” '

On December 30, 2004, we sold our 99% interest in Crosby Finance to Deutsche Bank AG for a purchase
price of $20.
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3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment were as follows:
December 31,

2004 2003

Land ... e $ 7,593 $§ 7,068
Building . ... ..o 22,257 20,707
Furniture and equipment. ....... ... ...t 90,387 83,058
ConStriuction N PIOZTESS . .« v\ v vt v v et e te e et eiaaa e eenae e 3,357 298
Leasehold improvements . .. .....ovvn ettt 32,811 32,435

Total Lo e 156,405 143,566
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization..................... (85,705)  (75,417)
Property and equipment, Met. ... .. ...utervtiit i $ 70,700 $ 68,149

4. Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets other than goodwill, included in other non current assets in the consolidated balance
sheets, consisted of the following:

December 31,

2004 2003

Licensed technologies, gross . ... ... viet ittt iiiiiiiiiaane s $3,454  $1,554
Accumulated amOrtization . ..........uiiitt ittt e _(515) (M
Total intangible assets, Nt . ....... ettt & $1,547

The estimated useful lives of our intangible assets are 2-6 years. The future estimated amortization
expense of our intangible assets is as follows: 2005 — $1,030, 2006 — $630, 2007 — $550, 2008 — $250, 2009
and thereafter — $479.

5. Convertible Debentures

During October and November 2001, we issued 7% convertible debentures with an aggregate principal
amount of $80,000.

In June 2004, a holder of a debenture with a principal amount of $10,000 converted the full amount of
this debenture into shares of our common stock. These conversions resulted in the issuance of an aggregate of
727,537 shares of our common stock and the cancellation of the holder’s debenture. We made no principal
payment in connection with the conversions. After these conversions the remaining aggregate principal
amount of the 7% convertible debentures was $70,000.

The remaining debentures were scheduled to mature on October 17, 2004, unless redeemed earlier by us
or converted into shares of our common stock at the holder’s option. In October 2004, the remaining holders of
our outstanding 7% convertible debentures converted the full amount of the debentures in several tranches
over the course of two weeks: $750 of the debentures were converted on October 5, 2004; $50,500 of the
debentures were converted on October 13, 2004; and the remaining $18,750 of the debentures were converted
on October 15, 2004. These conversions resulted in the issuance of an aggregate of 5,092,760 shares of our
common stock and the cancellation of all of our outstanding 7% convertible subordinated debentures. We
made no principal payment in connection with any of the conversion.
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6. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Warrants — In connection with the issuance of our 7% convertible debentures in October
and November 2001, we issued warrants to the convertible debenture holders to purchase shares of our
common stock. The holders may exercise the warrants for an aggregate of 873,045 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $13.745 per share. The exercise price of the warrants may be adjusted under
certain circumstances, such as events that would cause dilution of the holder’s interest. The warrants were
immediately exercisable upon issuance and expire on October 17, 2006. We recorded the fair market value of
the warrants as additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2004, none of the warrants have been exercised.

Stockholder Rights Plan — On July 20, 1999, our Board of Directors adopted a Stockholder Rights Pian,
and a Rights Agreement to govern the Plan, under which common stock purchase rights (each, a “Right”)
were distributed to our stockholders at the rate of one Right for each share of our common stock. Each Right
entitles the stockholder that owns the Right to purchase one share of our common stock at a purchase price of
$83.33 per share, subject to adjustment (the “Purchase Price”). Our stockholders may exercise the Rights
(1) if another party acquires, or obtains the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our
common stock, or (2) upon the commencement of a tender or exchange offer that, if consummated, would
result in another party acquiring 15% or more of our common stock. In the event of such an acquisition or
similar event, each Right, other than those owned by the acquiring party, will enable the stockholder that owns
the Right to purchase the number of shares of our common stock that equals the Purchase Price divided by
one-half of the current market price (as defined in the Rights Agreement) of the common stock.

In addition, if we are involved in a merger or other transaction with another company in which we are not
the surviving corporation, or if we sell or transfer 50% or more of our assets or earning power to another
company, each Right will entitle the stockholder that owns it to purchase the number of shares of common
stock of the acquiring company that equals the Purchase Price divided by one-half of the current market price
of the acquiring company’s common stock. We are generally entitled to redeem the Rights at $0.001 per Right
at any time until the tenth business day after the later of (1) a public announcement that an acquiring party
has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, 15% or more of our common stock or (2) the actual knowledge
by any of our executive officers of such an acquisition. Unless the Rights are redeemed or exchanged earlier,
they will expire on July 20, 2009.

Share Repurchase Program — We have maintained a common stock repurchase program since Septem-
ber 2004. Under the current program, we are authorized to repurchase up to 6,700,000 shares of our common
stock through December 31, 2005. We may make repurchases in the open market or through negotiated
transactions from time to time depending on market conditions. We use repurchased shares for stock option
and employee stock purchase plans, and for general corporate purposes. Since the repurchase program was
authorized, we have repurchased an aggregate of 50,000 shares for $911.

7. Stock Option and Purchase Plans

Our 1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended — 1998 Restatement, as amended (1994 Plan”), allowed us
to grant to our employees, officers, directors and consultants options to purchase common stock intended to
qualify as incentive stock options, options that do not qualify as incentive stock options (non-statutory
options), restricted stock awards and other stock-based awards. In 2004, the 1994 Plan expired in accordance
with its terms, except with respect to awards already granted, and we no longer grant awards under this plan.

Our Amended and Restated 1998 Non-Officer Employee Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (“1998
Plan”), allows us to grant non-statutory stock options, restricted stock awards, and other stock-based awards
to our employees, consultants and advisors, other than those who are also officers within the meaning of
Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In general, stock options granted under the
1998 Plan become exercisable as to 25% of the shares subject to each option on the first anniversary of the
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grant date and in equal quarterly installments thereafter for three years. In general, no installment is
exercisable after the fourth anniversary of the date on which such installment first becomes exercisable, and
options generally expire eight years from the grant date. At December 31, 2004, there were 21,062,764 shares
authorized and 5,417,618 shares available for grant under the 1998 Plan.

A summary of stock option activity under all plans follows:

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Shares Per Share
Outstanding at January 1,2002 ......... ... .coiiiiiinn... 11,948,019 $21.07
Granted ... ... e e e 8,516,721 4.61
Exercised .. ... P (218,399) 6.95
Canceled and expired ...........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaan, (3,718,092) 21.54
Outstanding at December 31,2002 . .................cov.... 16,528,249 12.48
Granted ... ...t e e 4,955,700 9.96
Exercised .. ...ooiiii e (3,033,433) 5.90
Canceled and expired . ....... ..o (1,557,309) 14.48
Outstanding at December 31,2003..................... . ..., 16,893,207 12.70
Granted . ... . e e e e 3,289,950 17.46
Exercised . ...t e (4,624,726) 8.62
Canceled and expired ........... .ot (1,069,587) 17.29
Outstanding at December 31,2004 . ................ ... ... .. 14,488,844 $14.68
Exercisable at December 31,2002 ............coiiiiiniinn.. 8,648,763 $14.45
Exercisable at December 31,2003 ......... ... ... i, 3,450,301 $15.99
Exercisable at December 31,2004 . .......... .. ... ... ... ... ... 6,949,440 $17.44

The following table sets forth information regarding stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004
under all plans:

Weighted
Weighted Average Average Exercise

Weighted Remaining Number Price for

Number of Average Contractual Life Currently Currently

Range of Exercise Prices Shares Exercise Price (Years) Exercisable Exercisable
$ 2.93- 404 1,421,146 $ 3.90 5.5 257,696 $ 3.95
$ 4.42- 6.30 2,675,928 $ 491 5.5 1,520,883 $ 4.98
$ 6.65- 9.35 837,398 $ 8.08 5.1 690,637 $ 8.28
$ 9.99-14.67 2,539,596 $12.85 6.9 518,818 $12.46
$15.00-21.71 4,374,588 $17.61 6.3 1,429,874 $18.13
$22.69-32.96 2,287,117 $28.15 37 2,186,627 $28.19
$34.03-49.38 353,071 $37.36 37 344,905 $37.40
$ 2.93-49.38 14,488,844 $14.68 3.6 6,949,440 $17.44

Our 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (the “Purchase Plan™), provides for sales of
common stock to participating employees at prices of not less than 85% of the closing price of our common
stock on The NASDAQ National Market on either the first day or the last day of the offering period,
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whichever is lower. At December 31, 2004, 3,100,000 shares were authorized under the Purchase Plan, and

646,112 shares were available for purchase. The cumulative total shares purchased under the plan through
2004, 2003 and 2002 were 2,453,888, 2,153,016 and 1,382,835, respectively.

8. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Equity instruments that were considered antidilutive and therefore were not included in the computation
of diluted earnings or loss per share includes the following shares of our common stock:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Employee stock options. .. ...... ... .. ool 3,787,724 8,497,066 16,528,249
Convertible debentures ................cooiiiiiin.. 4,316,090 5,820,298 5,820,298
Common stock warrants ..............ccnieneninen.nn. 0 873,045 873,045

9. Income Taxes

Components of income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
DOMEStIC o v v ittt e e $20,087 $ 5,834 $(143,808)
Foreign .. ... 23,564 12,722 7,108
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes .... $43,651 $18,556  $(136,700)

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following:
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Current:
Federal ... ... . e e $3,037  $(9,335) $(43,315)
Foreign .. ... ..o e e 3,264 1,230 1,235
S . o e e e 477 — —
Total . oo e 6,778 (8,105)  (42,080)
Deferred:
Federal . ... . i 1,814 11,825 2,246
Foreign . ... ... 77 — (42)
Total . e 1,891 11,823 2,204
Total . e et $8,669 $ 3,720 $(39,876)
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The reconciliation between the statutory and effective income tax rates for the years ended December 31,

2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:
2004 2003 2002

Statutory tax rate ........oiini i e et 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Change in estimated deferred taxrate ............... ..., — —  (32)
Foreign tax rate differentials .................... ... o i i (11.3) (16.2) (0.9)
Increase in valuation allowance .. ........ ... ... i, 13.0 - —
Reduction of tax contingency reserve . ..........c..oveiiiiieivnrannnn (16.9) — —
State INCOME tAXES . ..o vt ir ettt iee i ey 1.1 — —
Other, met.. ... . _(10) _12 (1.7)
Effective income tax rate . ... i i _199% 200% 29.2%

Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows at:
December 31,

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets — current:

Revenue related items and other ........... ... .. ..o, $ 2459 $§ 2942
Net deferred tax assets — Current ..........c.ccuvriiirininvninrnannn. $ 2459 $§ 2942
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) — non current:

Net operating loss carryforwards ............ ..o it ineinn... $ 19,174 § 34,317

Deferred gain — Investment in Crosby Finance, LLC ............... — (26,298)

Acquired intangible assets........... ... i e (1,878) (1,789)

Investment valuation reserve. ...........ovuvuiiunnnnnnneennn.. - 350

COmPENSAtION . « . v vttt e e 700 263

Restructunings. ... ... oot e 9,711 12,504

Merger EXPeNSES. . . o\ttt e e e —_ (3,946)

Other. ..o e 2,280 966

Purchased research and development ............................. 1,900 2,017

Less: valuation allowance ............. . ... .o i i, (23,665)  (25,430)
Net deferred tax assets/ (liabilities) —non current .................... § 8222 § (7,046)

Tax benefits arising from the exercise of stock options were $9,552, $5,485 and $328 in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The tax benefits are allocated directly to additional paid-in capital in stockholders’ equity
when realized.

Cash payments for income taxes were approximately $3,238, $1,749 and $1,791 in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2004, we have net operating loss carryforwards for federal tax purposes of
approximately $54,784. If not utilized, these carryforwards will expire in calendar years 2017 through 2023.
Approximately $36,720 of these carryforwards relates to acquisitions that we completed during 2001. We
generated the remainder of the net operating loss carryforwards in 2003. These carryforwards include amounts
attributable to the exercise of employee stock options which were deducted for tax purposes. The loss
carryforwards from acquired companies can be utilized to offset future taxable income, but are subject to
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certain annual limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Furthermore, pre- acquisition net
operating losses may not be utilizable in future years in the event of a substantial discontinuation of the
acquired business.

We perform an annual assessment of the realization of our deferred tax assets considering all of the
available evidence, both positive and negative. We then record a valuation allowance against the deferred tax
assets which we believe, based on the weight of available evidence, will more than likely not be realized. We
assessed the realization of our deferred tax assets at the end of 2004. We concluded that due to historical and
forecasted tax losses, which are primarily attributable to tax deductions for employee stock options and to
restructuring costs accrued in prior years, we could not meet the more likely than not standard required by
SFAS No. 109. Accordingly, we recorded a valuation allowance of $10,813 against our deferred tax assets in
2004. Approximately $5,688 of the valuation allowances are allocable to continuing operations and impacted
our effective tax rate for the year. The remaining $5,125 of valuation allowances reflect the impact of
employee stock options and are allocable directly to shareholders equity.

In total, the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets decreased by $1,765 in 2004. The net decrease is
attributable to (i) an increase of $10,813 recorded against deferred tax assets that we believe will more than
likely not be realized, and (ii) a decrease of $12,578 which represents the tax benefit of the utilization of
approximately $35,937 of acquisition net operating loss carryforwards in 2004. The $12,578 tax benefit
reduced goodwill in 2004. The tax benefit from any future utilization of the remaining acquisition net
operating loss carryforwards will also reduce the carrying value of the goodwill and other intangible assets
which arose from the acquisitions that we completed in 2001.

We are currently under audit by the United States Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) for the years
1996 through 2002. The audit was substantially complete at December 31, 2004. We expect to receive a cash
refund within the next fifteen months as a result of the IRS audit. The impact of this refund has not been
reflected in the financial statements as, although substantially complete, the IRS has not yet issued a final
audit report. The impact of the refund will be refiected in the financial statements in the quarter in which the
final audit report is issued.

We are required to reserve for certain loss contingencies relating to, among other things, income taxes.
We reserve for these items in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”. In the ordinary
course of global business there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax outcome is
uncertain. As a result we are, from time to time, subjected to various US, international and state tax audits.
Accordingly, we reserve for potential tax liabilities due in these various jurisdictions. We review these tax
reserves annually. In connection with our review of the tax reserves for 2004, we determined that the amount
of reserves required for tax exposures was less than the amount recorded in the financial statements. As a
result, we reduced the tax reserves by $7,400 in 2004.
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10. Restructurings

The following table summarizes our restructuring activities:

Facility Exit Liguidation
Costs & Related of Sweden
Asset Severance  Development
Impairments Costs Operations Total

Balance at January 1,2002 ............... $ 9,802 $ 1,283 —  $ 11,085
Restructuring charges —2002............. 8,296 5,704 $ 4,380 18,380
Revision of previously recorded restructuring

charges — 2002 ....... ... ... .ot 35,718 — 1,938 37,656
Total restructuring charges — 2002 ........ 44,014 5,704 6,318 56,036
Payments — 2002 ....................... (5,791) (5,590) (5,700) (17,081)
Write offs —2002............. ..., (12,114) — — (12,114)
Total payments and Write offs — 2002 .. ... (17,905) (5,590) (5,700) (29,195)
Balance at December 31,2002 ............ 35,911 1,397 618 37,926
Revision of previously recorded restructuring

charges — 2003 ...... ... ... ... ... ..., 774 (566) (208) —
Payments — 2003 ....................... (8,789) (581) (410) (9,780)
Write offs —2003....................... (242) —_ — (242)
Total payments and Write offs — 2003 ... .. (9,031) (581) (410) (10,022)
Balance at December 31,2003 ............ 27,654 250 — 27,904
Revision of previously recorded restructuring

charges — 2004 ............ ... oot 1,032 (250) — 782
Payments —2004 ....................... (8,973) — — (8,973)
Write offts — 2004 . .........oiiiii — — —
Total restructuring charges — 2004 ........ (7,941) (250) — (8,191) *
Balance at December 31, 2004 . ........... $ 19,713 $ — $ — §$19,713

During the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded total restructuring charges of $56,036, consisting
of facility exit costs, costs associated with the liquidation of our Swedish development operations and the sale
of certain Swedish assets and the business related to the asset to TFS Technology AB (“TFS”), and severance
and other costs associated with the reduction of employee headcount. The 2002 restructuring charges include
costs of $37,656 incurred due to the revision of previously recorded restructuring charges.

Included in the 2002 restructuring charges were new charges of $8,296 consisting of facility exit costs and
related impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures. Facility exit costs consist of
estimated shortfalls of sublease rental income compared to obligations due under certain exited facilities leases
which are payable through 2009.

Impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures included in facility exit costs are for
unamortized leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures that we believe will not be recoverable upon
sublease of exited facilities. Total facility exit costs for 2002 include costs of $35,718 that we incurred when it
revised estimates used in previously recorded restructuring charges. We revised the estimates included in
facility exit costs due to the extension of the period of time estimated to obtain sublease tenants for certain
exited facilities, based on the terms of finalized subleases obtained during 2002, due to higher than anticipated
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operating costs associated with certain exited facilities, and due to the continued uncertainty and deterioration
in the commercial real estate and sublet markets in the Boston metropolitan area.

We recorded total restructuring charges of $6,318 during 2002 associated with the liquidation of our
Swedish development operations and the sale of certain Swedish assets and the business related to the assets
to TFS. We sold these assets and related business to TFS in exchange in part for TFS’s assumption of the
liabilities related to the assets and associated business, including the related support obligations and certain
employees. The total number of employees included in this transaction was 76, of which 67 were employed in
research and development and 9 were employed in general and administrative functions. The total Sweden
liquidation costs include costs of $1,938 we incurred upon revision of estimates used in previously recorded
restructuring charges.

Also included in restructuring charges for 2002 are severance and other costs associated with the
reduction of employee headcount of $5,704 for 121 employees, of which 15 were employed in manufacturing,
customer operations and technical services, 37 were employed in research and development, 48 were employed
in sales and marketing, and 21 employed in general and administrative functions.

During 2003 we revised estimates used in previously recorded restructuring charges. These revisions
resulted in no net change to our restructuring liability at December 31, 2003. We revised estimates of facility
exit costs based upon the terms of finalized subleases obtained during 2003. These revised estimates of facility
exit costs resulted in a net increase to facility exit costs of $774 at December 31, 2003. In addition, we reduced
our severance restructuring reserve by $566 at December 31, 2003 when we determined our remaining
severance and other outplacement costs were lower than originally estimated. We also reduced our
restructuring reserve of costs associated with the liquidation of our Swedish development operations and the
sale of certain Swedish assets by $208 at December 31, 2003 when we determined we had no legal and
consulting costs remaining in connection with this transaction.

In 1999, we commenced and substantially completed consolidation of certain operations in order to
enhance operational efficiency. We recorded facility exit costs consisting primarily of estimated shortfalls of
sublease rental income compared to minimum lease payments due under a lease agreement. During the year
ended December 31, 2003 we revised our estimates of these facility exit costs and reduced the reserve for these
facility exit costs to zero.

We continue to monitor and assess our facility obligations, real estate markets and our operating
expenses, including those recorded prior to 2002. As a result of these ongoing assessments, during 2004 we
recorded a charge of $1,601 related to revised estimates of facility exit costs. We revised this estimate of
facility exit costs based upon the terms of finalized subleases and associated costs obtained during the second
quarter of 2004. We also reduced our restructuring reserve by $819 at December 31, 2004 when we
determined our remaining severance and operating costs were lower than originally estimated.

We expect to pay the remaining restructuring costs accrued at December 31, 2004 as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2005 . . .. ... e $6,031
Year ending December 31, 2006. .. ... ... oot 4,691
Year ending December 31, 2007 ... ... o it e 4,341
Year ending December 31, 2008 . ... ... ..o e 2,871
Year ending December 31, 2000 . . ... .. e 1,779

11. Segment Information

We have one reportable segment, e-Security Solutions. The operations of the e-Security Solutions
segment consist of the sale of software licenses, hardware, maintenance and professional services through two
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product groups, Enterprise solutions and Developer solutions. Enterprise solutions include sales of RSA
SecurID® authenticators, RSA Authentication Manager software, RSA Certificate Manager software, RSA
ClearTrust® software, and maintenance and professional services associated with these products. Developer
solutions include sales of RSA BSAFE® encryption software and protocol products, RSA Certificate Manager
components, and maintenance and professional services associated with these products. The segment was
determined primarily based on how management views and evaluates our operations.

Our operations are conducted throughout the world. Operations in the United States represent more than
56% of total revenue. Our operations in other countries have been grouped by regional area below. The
following tables present information about e-Security Solutions revenue:

Years Ended December 31,

Product and Service Group 2004 2003 2002
Enterprise solutions ........... ... oo, $279,226  § 235,739  $204,671
Developer solutions . . ........coiiiiin i, 28,281 24,127 27,413

$307,507  $259,866  $232,084

Years Ended December 31,

Geographic Areas 2004 2003 2002

United States of America .............cciiiiiiinnn... $172,699  $155,021  $138,539
Europe andother ......... ... ... il 100,644 80,163 70,224
Asia Pacific ..ot e 34,164 24,682 23,321

$307,507  $259,866  $232,084

Except for Tech Data Corporation, one of our distributors, no single customer accounted for more than
10% of our total revenue for the years ended 2004 and 2003. Revenue from Tech Data Corporation accounted
for 11% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004. During 2003, Tech Data Corporation
merged with Azlan Group Plc (also a distributor). Had this merger been completed as of January 1, 2003,
revenue from the combined entity, on a pro forma basis, would have accounted for 10% of our total revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2003.

The tables below present information about our long lived assets by regional area:
At December 31, 2004

Total United States Europe Asia Pacific
Property and equipment, net ................ $ 70,700 $ 36,706 $31,498 $2,496
Goodwill, net...............coiviii .. 172,736 172,736 — —
Other assets . ....coviii it 12,184 10,965 54 1,165

At December 31, 2003

Total United States Europe Asia Pacific
Property and equipment, net ................ $ 68,149 $ 35,104 $29,852 $3,193
Goodwill, net........... ..., 189,260 189,260 — —
Otherassets.........coviiiiiiininennn.. 6,879 5,278 67 1,534
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At December 31, 2002

Total United States Europe Asia Pacific
Property and equipment, net ................ $ 73,376 $ 41,423 $28,741 $3,212
Goodwill,net.................. ... ... ... 192,629 192,629 — —
Otherassets.......oovviiiiininennn.. 7,374 5,505 154 1,715

Included in our property and equipment in Europe is land and a building purchased during 2000 in the
United Kingdom which had a net carrying value of $22,257 at December 31, 2004.

12. Retirement and Savings Plan

We have a 401 (k) retirement and savings plan that allows each participant to defer up to 20% of the
participant’s annual earnings up to an annual statutory maximum amount. We may make, at our discretion,
matching and profit-sharing contributions to the plan. Generally, matching and profit-sharing contributions
that we make vest annually over four years. Matching contributions are paid in cash and were $1,602, $1,412,
and $1,360 in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. No profit sharing contributions were made for 2004, 2003
and 2002.

We also have a non-qualified deferred compensation program that permits key employees to annually
elect to defer, for their personal income tax purposes, a portion of their compensation for not less than three
years or until their retirement, termination, death or disability. To assist in the financing of the funding of the
deferred compensation program, we invest the compensation that is withheld and deferred in Company-owned
life insurance policies. Amounts withheld and deferred for key employees under our deferred compensation
program were $1,085, $545, and $868 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and are included in operating
expenses. A non recurring expense of $1,190 for fees and losses on investment income related to a deferred
compensation plan is included in our general and administrative expenses in 2004. The plan which was
implemented in 2000 has been significantly restructured to reduce the investment management fees.

13. Commitments

We lease office facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases expiring through 2017.
Future minimum rental payments net of existing sublease agreements and excluding facility exit costs
included in restructuring charges are as follows:

Facility Exit Costs

Gross Lease Included in Net Lease
Years Ending December 31, Commitments Restructurings Commitments
2005 o $20,647 $6,031 $14,616
2006 . e 19,243 4,691 14,552
2007 . 18,948 4,341 14,607
2008 .o 17,328 2,871 14,457
2009 and thereafter ................... ... .... 84,413 1,779 82,634

Net rent expense was approximately $11,488, $11,624, and $13,764 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Rent collected from existing subleases and not included in restructuring charges was $120, $9, and $700, in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

We are also required to pay royalties under various other licensing agreements. Total royalty expense
under all agreements was $6,756, $5,375, and $5,978 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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14. Litigation

On or about February 2, 2001, Leon Stambler filed a complaint for patent infringement in U.S. District
Court for the District of Delaware against RSA Security, VeriSign, Inc., First Data Corporation, Openwave
Systems Inc., and Omnisky Corporation, Case Number 01-0065. In his complaint, Mr. Stambler alleged that
certain products marketed by each of the defendants infringed various patents that he owns, and he sought
unspecified damages as well as a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining the defendants from
infringing the claims asserted. The trial took place in March 2003, and the jury determined that our products
did not infringe Mr. Stambler’s patents. On April 17, 2003, the court entered final judgment in our favor on
all claims of non-infringement. On or about December 8, 2003, Mr. Stambler filed a notice of appeal to the
United States Court of Appeals. On December 7, 2004, we and Mr. Stambler presented our arguments to the
Court of Appeals, and on or about February 11, 2005, the court issued a ruling affirming the lower court’s
ruling in our favor.

On or about April 15, 2004, Ursus, Inc., a former reseller of our products, filed a complaint against us in
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, alleging that we had violated the U.S. Clayton
Act, tortiously interfered with Ursus’ contractual relationships and disseminated false and defamatory
statements about Ursus. In November 2004, we signed a settlement agreement with Ursus, pursuant to which
Ursus agreed to dismiss its complaint with prejudice.

From time to time, we have been named as a defendant in other legal actions arising from our normal
business activities, which we believe will not have a material adverse effect on us or our business.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A. CONITROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. QOur management, with the participation of our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in the SEC rules promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of
December 31, 2004. Based on this evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that, as of December 31, 2004,
our disclosure controls and procedures were (1) designed to ensure that material information relating to RSA
Security, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to our CEO and CFO by others within RSA
Security, particularly during the period in which this Report was being prepared, and (2) effective, in that
they provide reasonable assurance that information that we are required to disclose in the reports we file under
the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Attestation of Registered Public
Accounting Firm. The report of our management regarding internal control over financial reporting and the
attestation report of our registered public accounting firm are included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K starting on page 43.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. No change in our internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in the SEC rules promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act) occurred during the
quarter ended December 31, 2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF RSA SECURITY

The information required by this item is contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on May 26, 2005 (our “2005 Proxy Statement’) under the captions “Our Board of
Directors,” “Our Executive Officers,” “Committees of our Board of Directors — Audit Committee, Govern-
ance and Nominating Committee,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and
“Corporate Governance.” This information is incorporated by reference into this Report.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is contained in our 2005 Proxy Statement under the captions
“Compensation of our Directors and Executive Officers” and “Comparative Stock Performance” and is
incorporated by reference into this Report.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is contained in our 2005 Proxy Statement under the captions
“Securities Authorized for Issuance under our Equity Compensation Plans” and “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and is incorporated by reference into this Report.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is contained in our 2005 Proxy Statement under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™ and is incorporated by reference into this Report.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item is contained in our 2005 Proxy Statement under the caption

“Proposal 4 — Ratification of the Appointment of Auditors” and is incorporated by reference into this Report.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Documents filed as a part of this Report:

1. Financial Statements. We are filing our Consolidated Financial Statements as part of this Report.
The Consolidated Financial Statements include:

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule. We are filing as part of this Report our Financial Statement
Schedule II “Valuation and Qualifying Accounts” immediately following the Exhibit Index.

3. Exhibits. We are filing as part of this Report the Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index following the
signature page to this Report.
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SIGNATURES

"Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, RSA
Security Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.

Date: March 11, 2005

RSA Security Inc.

By: /s/ ARTHUR W. COVIELLO, JR.

Arthur W. Coviello, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
' by the following persons on behalf of RSA Security Inc. and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ ARTHUR W, COVIELLO, JR.

Arthur W. Coviello, Jr.

/s/ JEFFREY D. GLIDDEN

Jeffrey D. Glidden

/s/ JOHN M. PARSONS

John M. Parsons

/s/  James K. SiMs

James K. Sims

/s/ ROBERT P. BADAVAS

Robert P. Badavas

/s/ RICHARD A. DEMILLO

Richard A. DeMillo

/s/  RICHARD L. EARNEST

Richard L. Earnest

/s/ TAHER ELGAMAL

Taher Elgamal

/s/ GurLoria C. LARSON

Gloria C. Larson

/s/ JOSEPH B. LASSITER, III

Joseph B. Lassiter, I11

/s/ CHARLES R. STUCKEY, JR.

Charles R. Stuckey, Jr.

Title

Chief Executive Officer, President and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Senior Vice President, Finance and
Operations, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer)

Vice President, Finance and Accounting
(Principal Accounting Officer)
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005

‘March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005

March 11, 2005




3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

*10.1

*10.2

*10.3

*10.4

*10.5

*10.6

*10.7

*10.8

EXHIBIT INDEX

Our Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

Our Amended and Restated By-Laws, as amended, is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-85606) (the “Form S-17).

Specimen Certificate for shares of our common stock, $.01 par value per share, is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 10, 1999.
(SEC file no. 000-25120)

Rights Agreement, dated as of July 20, 1999, between RSA Security and State Street Bank and
Trust Company, which includes as Exhibit A the Form of Rights Certificate and as Exhibit B the
Summary of Rights to Purchase Common Stock, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1 to
our Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 000-25120) filed on July 23, 1999.

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2001, among RSA Security, State
Street Bank and Trust Company and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 2, 2001.

Amendment No. 2 to Rights Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2002, between RSA Security and
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K dated November 2, 2001.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2001, among RSA Security and the
Investors named therein is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K dated October 17, 2001.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2001, among RSA Security and the
Investors named therein is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K dated October 29, 2001.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2001, among RSA Security and the
Investors named therein is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K dated November 5, 2001,

Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2001,
among RSA Security and the Investors named therein is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 5, 2001.

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to
our Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 5, 2001.

1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended — 1998 Restatement, as amended, is incorporated herein by
reference to Appendix A to our Preliminary Schedule 14A filed March 5, 1999. (SEC file no. 000-
25120)

1994 Director Stock Option Plan, as amended, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

Amended and Restated 1998 Non-Officer Employee Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, is incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001.

1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, is incorporated herein by reference to Ex-
hibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001.

2000 Deferred Compensation Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended March 31, 2000. (SEC file no. 000-25120)
First Amendment to the 2000 Deferred Compensation Plan is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Second Amendment to the 2000 Deferred Compensation Plan is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

Third Amendment to the 2000 Deferred Compensation Plan is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 28, 2004.
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$10.19

$10.20

$10.21

#10.22
#10.23

10.24

RSA Security Inc. Grantor Trust Agreement, dated March 13, 2000, between RSA Security and
Wachovia Bank, N.A. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000. (SEC file no. 000-25120)

Employment Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2000, between RSA Security and Arthur W.
Coviello, Jr. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2001, between
RSA Security and Charles R. Stuckey, Ir. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

A description of our 2005 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan is incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005.

Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated December 5, 1994, as amended, between
RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by reference to Ex-
hibit 10.17 to the Form S-1.

Second Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of Novem-
ber 29, 1995, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997
(SEC file no. 000-25120).

Third Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of November 15,
1996, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997 (SEC
file no. 000-25120).

Fourth Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1998,
between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998 (SEC file
no. 000-25120).

Fifth Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of February 18,
1999, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.22 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999. (SEC
file no. 000-25120).

Sixth Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of October 26,
1999, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.23 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999. (SEC
file no. 000-25120)

Seventh Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of Novem-
ber 28, 2001, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001.

Eighth Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of November 27,
2002, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.17 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Ninth Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of December 2,
2003, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation is incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.19 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Tenth Amendment to Progress Software Application Partner Agreement, dated as of November 30,
2004, between RSA Security and Progress Software Corporation.

Letter Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2004, between RSA Security and Sanyo Semiconductor
Corporation.

Lease, dated as of November 16, 2000, between RSA Security and Bedford Woods Limited

Partnership I is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.
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Lease, dated as of November 17, 2000, between RSA Security and Bedford Woods Limited
Partnership I is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000,

Indenture of Lease, dated as of March 11, 1996, between RSA Security and Beacon Properties, L.P.
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to our Registration Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-7265).

Rider to Indenture of Lease, dated as of March 11, 1996 between RSA Security and Beacon
Properties, L.P. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998 (SEC file no. 000-25120).

First Amendment to Lease, dated as of May 10, 1997, between RSA Security and Beacon
Properties, L.P. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997 (SEC file no. 000-25120).

Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of April 8, 1998, between RSA Security and EOP — Crosby

Corporate Center, L.L.C. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998 (SEC file no. 000-25120).

Third Amendment to Lease, dated as of May 9, 2000, between RSA Security and EOP — Crosby
Corporate Center, L.L.C. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

Sublease Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2002, between RSA Security and NVIDIA
Corporation is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.

Agreement of Sublease, dated as of January 10, 2003, between RSA Security and Atex Media
Command, Inc. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Agreement of Sublease, dated as of December 10, 2003, between RSA Security and 170 Systems,
Inc. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2003.

Agreement of Sublease, dated as of January 2004, between RSA Security and Intersense, Inc. is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003.

Agreement of Sublease, dated as of May 4, 2004, between RSA Security and Empirix Inc. is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Agreement of Sublease, dated as of March 31, 2004 between RSA Security and iPhrase Technolo-
gies, Inc. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Agreement of Sublease, dated as of July 27, 2004 between RSA Security and Ask Jeeves, Inc.

Lease Agreement, dated as of August 15, 1997, between RSA Security and Peninsula Office Park
Associates, L.P. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998 (SEC file no. 000-25120).

Lease Agreement, dated as of December 19, 1997, between RSA Security and Peninsula Office Park
Associates, L.P. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998 (SEC file no. 000-25120).

Sublease Agreement, dated as of January 22, 2002, between RSA Security and Serena Software,
Inc. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2002.

Subsidiaries of RSA Security.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Certification of our CEQO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

Certification of our CFO pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.
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32.1
99.1

99.2

99.3

99.4

99.5

99.6

99.7

99.8

99.9

99.10

Certifications of our CEO and CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Richard A. DeMillo on December 1, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Taher Elgamal on December 10, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by William L. McQuaide on November 19, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by John M. Parsons on November 5, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Scott T. Schnell on December 8, 2004,

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Margaret K. Seif on December 1, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10bS5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Charles R. Stuckey, Jr. on December 1, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10bS5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Joseph Uniejewski on December 10, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Vivian M. Vitale on December 6, 2004.

Stock trading plan, pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities
amended, adopted by Gerard H. Wilson on December 8, 2004.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Exchange
Exchange
Exchange
Exchange
Exchange
Exchange
Exchange
Exchange
Exchange

Exchange

Act

Act

Act

Act

Act

Act

Act

Act

Act

Act

of

of

of

of

of

of

of

of

of

of

1934,
1934,
1934,
1934,
1934,
1934,
1934,
1934,
1934,

1934,

as

t Confidential treatment previously granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission as to certain
portions.

# Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions.
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SCHEDULE 11

RSA SECURITY INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charged to Charged Balance at
Beginning of Costs and to Other End of
Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period

(In thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts

For the year ended December 31, 2004 $1,849 — $ 253(A) $ 430(B) $1,672
For the year ended December 31, 2003 2,494 — 812(A) 1,457(B) 1,849
For the year ended December 31, 2002 2,659 $1,553 1,441 (A) 3,159(B) 2,494
Allowance for sales returns

For the year ended December 31, 2004 $2,423 $1,898 —_ $2,821 $1,500
For the year ended December 31, 2003 4,122 1,595 — 3,294 2,423
For the year ended December 31, 2002 3,656 7,074 — 6,608 4,122
Inventory allowance

For the year ended December 31, 2004 $ 435 $ (115) —_ $ 19 $ 321
For the year ended December 31, 2003 473 132 — 150 455
For the year ended December 31, 2002 451 1,693 $ 22 1,693 473

(A) Reflects recoveries of previously written-off accounts receivable balances
(B) Reflects write-off of uncollectible accounts receivable
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